A STUDY OF THE PREVALENCE OF PERIPHERAL VASCULAR DISEASE AND ITS ASSOCIATED RISK FACTORS AMONG ADULTS IN A RURAL COMMUNITY IN SOUTH INDIA

DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENT OF THE TAMIL NADU DR. M.G.R. MEDICAL UNIVERSITY, CHENNAI FOR THE DEGREE OF M.D. BRANCH-XV (COMMUNITY MEDICINE) EXAMINATION TO BE HELD IN MAY 2019



THE TAMILNADU DR. M.G.R. MEDICAL UNIVERSITY

CHENNAI

MAY 2019

CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that "A study of the prevalence of peripheral vascular disease and its associated risk factors among adults in a rural community in South India" is a bona fide work of Dr. Jackwin Sam Paul G in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the M.D. Community Medicine Examination (Branch-XV) of the Tamil Nadu Dr. M.G.R. Medical University, Chennai, to be held in May 2019.

Dr. Vinod Joseph Abraham (MD, MPH) Professor, Guide and Head Department of Community Health Christian Medical College, Vellore Dr. Prabhu Premkumar (MS, MCh) Associate Professor and Co-Guide Department of Vascular Surgery Christian Medical College, Vellore

Dr. Anna B Pulimood (MD, PhD) Principal Christian Medical College, Vellore.

DECLARATION

This is to certify that this dissertation titled, "A STUDY OF THE PREVALENCE OF PERIPHERAL VASCULAR DISEASE AND ITS ASSOCIATED RISK FACTORS AMONG ADULTS IN A RURAL COMMUNITY IN SOUTH INDIA" is a bona fide work done by me, under the guidance of DR. VINOD JOSEPH ABRAHAM and DR. PRABHU PREMKUMAR, in partial fulfilment of the rules and regulations for the MD Branch XV (Community Medicine) Degree examination of the Tamil Nadu Dr. M.G.R. Medical University, Chennai, to be held in May 2018.

I have independently reviewed the literature, collected the data and carried out the analysis and evaluation towards the completion of the thesis.

DR. JACKWIN SAM PAUL G. POST GRADUATE STUDENT DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY HEALTH CHRISTIAN MEDICAL COLLEGE VELLORE-632002

CERTIFICATE - II

This is to certify that this dissertation titled, "A study of the prevalence of peripheral vascular disease and its associated risk factors among adults in a rural community in South India" of the candidate Jackwin Sam Paul G. with registration number – 201625052 for the award of the degree of M.D. in the branch of Community Medicine (XV). I personally verified the urkund.com website for the purpose of plagiarism check. I found that the uploaded thesis file contains introduction to conclusion pages and the result shows 2 percentage of plagiarism in the dissertation.

Guide and Supervisor with Seal

URKUND

Urkund Analysis Result

Analysed Document:A STUDY OF THE PREVALENCE OF PERIPHERAL VASCULAR
DISEASE AND ITS ASSOCIATED RISK FACTORS AMONG
ADULTS.docx (D42687551)Submitted:10/17/2018 10:32:00 PMSubmitted By:jackwinsp@gmail.comSignificance:2 %

Sources included in the report:

FIRAS MOHAMMED full thesis so far.docx (D31319277) Dissertation.docx (D31325262) FINAL.docx (D31440828) http://epublications.uef.fi/pub/urn_isbn_978-952-61-1239-8/ https://openarchive.ki.se/xmlui/handle/10616/44556 https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/medicine-and-dentistry/peripheral-artery-disease

Instances where selected sources appear:

9

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

'Unless the Lord builds the house, the builders labour in vain.' Psalms 127:1

First and foremost I would like to thank the Almighty. This study is a testament to His never ending favour and grace.

I thank my guide and mentor, Dr. Vinod Abraham, for his unstinting support and inspiration over the past two years. His discipline, approachability and expert guidance are the pillars on which this study stands. His contribution has been immense and my gratefulness knows no bounds.

My gratefulness extends to my co-guide, Dr. Prabhu Premkumar, who in spite of his hectic schedule contributed singularly to the study. His part in training me cannot be expressed in words.

My gratitude goes out to Dr. Kuryan for his benevolent interest in my project work.

Sincere thanks to Dr. Jasmin for her considerate efforts in helping the project happen on time.

A special note of thanks goes out to Dr. Anu Oommen. Her contribution in making the questionnaire and framing the methodology was significant.

My heartfelt gratitude goes out to the entire faculty of our department, Dr. Anuradha Bose, Dr. Venkat, Dr. Shanti, Dr. Jacob, Dr. Anuradha Rose, and Dr. Divya.

I would especially like to thank Dr. Anne, Dr. Dimple, Dr. Asha and Dr. Cherryl for their support at the workplace and beyond.

I am deeply indebted to Dr. Tobey, Dr. Sam, Dr. Kanaga, Dr. Bhavya, Dr. Sindhu and Dr. Shalini for their constant encouragement, cheerfulness and willingness to help at any point in time.

My beloved batch-mates Dr. Deepak, Dr. Kiran, Dr. Nirupama, Dr. Riya and Dr. Sandeep were of the utmost help and always provided the fillip when I needed it.

i

I thank my juniors Dr. Ranjith, Dr. Cheryl, Dr. Harsh, Dr. Bincy, Dr. Melwin Dany and Dr. Ashwin for their co-operation and Dr. Abel, for lending me his computer when I much needed it.

My interns and friends Dr. Renu, Dr. Kurien, Dr. Divya B, Dr. Anju J, Dr. Felix and Dr. Shreya Susan for their readiness to help out. Also my juniors Mr. Venkateswaran, Mr. Vaikunth, Mr. Nevin, Mr. Aashish Regi, Ms. Sarina and Ms. Chriset for their support at various times.

I would also like to thank the following people,

Mr. Thiyagarajan, and Mr. Aiyer for their relentless efforts in helping me with the study.

Mrs. Vijayalakshmi (Health Aide of Munjurpet), Mrs. Chinnapapa (PTCHW in Veppempet) and Mr. Balaraman from Kattuputhur in helping me with data collection.

My seniors Dr. Ananthram, Dr. Swathi, Dr. Nirmala, Dr. Anjali and Dr. Madhu.

The CHAD office staff, Mrs. Mary, Mr. Suresh, Mrs. Sumi, Mr. William and Mr. Sudhesh. I also thank Mrs. Salomi for her quick response and availability at all times.

The social workers, nursing staff, health aides, drivers, attenders and housekeeping staff of CHAD for their generous warmth, love and care.

It would be remiss of me if I do not thank Mr. Balaji and team, the laboratory staff of CHAD for their enthusiastic help.

I would like to thank my cousin, Dr. Ragland and his family for their constant support and prayers.

Finally and above all I would like to thank my parents, Dr. Godwin and Mrs. Latha for giving their all for my growth. This study, like all things in my life, is a fruition of their prayers and effort. My gratitude will never suffice for all their sacrifices.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

S. No		Page Number
1	Introduction and Justification	1
2	Objectives	7
3	Review of Literature	8
4	Methods and Methods	46
5	Results	55
6	Discussion	84
7	Limitations	89
8	Conclusions	90
9	Recommendations	91
10	Bibliography	92
11	Annexures	
	1. Questionnaire	108
	2. Information sheet and Consent Form – English	113
	3. Information sheet and Consent Form – Tamil	117
	4. Institutional Review Board Approval	123

Table No.	Title of Table	Page number
3.1	Fontaine's Classification of PAD	19
3.2	ACC/AHA (2011) interpretation of ABI	26
3.3	Revised Venous Clinical Severity Score	45
4.1	ACC/AHA ABI Interpretation guidelines	49
4.2	Sources of Data	50
4.3	Standard drink in India	51
4.4	WHO Asia/Pacific Classification of BMI	52
5.1	Age distribution of the study population	55
5.2	Description of study population by Religion	56
5.3	Description of the study population by Education	57
5.4	Description of the study population by Literacy	57
5.5	Description of the study population by Occupation	58
5.6	Description of study population by Family Type	58
5.7	Description of Study Population by SES	59
5.8	Description of Study Population by smoking habits	59
5.9	Description of Study Population by Alcohol Consumption	59
5.10	Frequency of oral contraceptive pill (OCP)use among women	60
5.11	Description of study population by the frequency of vegetable consumption	60
5.12	Description of study population by the frequency of fruit consumption	61
5.13	Median intake of fruits and vegetables	61
5.14	Physical characteristics of the study population	63
5.15	Description of study population based on the body mass index	64

INDEX OF TABLES

5.16	Prevalence of hypertension in the study population	64
5.17	Prevalence of diabetes mellitus in the study population	64
5.18	Duration of comorbid illnesses	65
5.19	History of ischemic heart disease in the study population	65
5.20	History of stroke in the study population	65
5.21	Prevalence of intermittent claudication	66
5.22	Prevalence of chronic venous disorders (CVD)	66
5.23	Prevalence of peripheral arterial disease (PAD)	67
5.24	Ankle brachial index (ABI) by Age	69
5.25	ABI by SES	70
5.26	ABI by Nutritional status	71
5.27	ABI by Alcohol intake	72
5.28	ABI by Smoking	72
5.29	Bivariate analysis for PAD	73
5.30	ABI by Alcohol consumption among men	74
5.31	Comparison of means with PAD patients-Part 1	75
5.32	Comparison of means with PAD patients-Part 2	76
5.33	Logistic regression analysis for PAD	77
5.34	Chronic Venous Disorders (CVD) by Age group	78
5.35	Chronic Venous Disorders by SES	79
5.36	Chronic Venous Disorders by Nutritional status	80
5.37	Bivariate analysis for CVD	81
5.38	Comparison of means with CVD patients	82
5.39	Logistic Regression analysis for CVD	83
6.1	NHANES study vs Present study with regards to age distribution	86

INDEX	OF FIGURES
--------------	-------------------

Figure Number	Title of Figure	Page Number
3.1	Prevalence of PAD by age group	8
3.2	Overlap of atherosclerostic vascular diseases	30
3.3	Survival rate in patients with Claudication	31
4.1	Map of Kaniyambadi	47
5.1	Sex distribution of the study population	55
5.2	Age distribution in the study population	56
5.3	Height distribution among study population	62
5.4	Weight distribution among study population	63
5.5	Distribution of ankle brachial index(ABI)	68

LIST OF COMMON ABBREVIATIONS USED

- Peripheral Arterial Disease PAD CVD - Chronic Venous Disorders ABI - Ankle Brachial Index TBI - Toe Brachial Index - Body Mass Index BMI - Low Density Lipoproteins LDL HDL - High Density Lipoproteins - American College of Cardiology / American Heart Association ACC/AHA - Clinical Etiologic Anatomic Pathophysiologic (Classification) CEAP

1. INTRODUCTION AND JUSTIFICATION

Peripheral Vascular disease refers to the disorders affecting the vessels that are not directly in relation to the heart (1). The most commonly seen conditions are lower limb venous insufficiency and peripheral arterial disease. The prevalence and risk factors of these diseases have not been studied extensively at the community level in India.

Atherosclerosis is a systemic disease affecting the medium and large arteries. The pathophysiology of this disease involves the accumulation of fibrins and lipids between the tunica intima and media of the vessels leading to narrowing of the vessel lumen. This, in turn, causes decreased blood flow which may lead to ischaemia. If this occurs in a non-cardiac or cerebral vessel, it is called peripheral arterial disease. It is commonly diagnosed by measuring ankle brachial pressure index (ABI). An ABI of less than 0.90 is considered diagnostic of peripheral arterial disease (2). An ABI of more than 1.30 is suggestive of non-compressible vessels and is also indicative of arterial disease (3), especially of the systemic kind.

A U-shaped curve is seen while predicting all cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality as far as the ABI is concerned. Both low (adjusted OR 1.69, 95% CI 1.34-2.14) and high (adjusted OR 1.77, 95% CI 1.48-2.13) values predicted mortality (4).

There are various reasons for decreased peripheral blood flow, like inflammation, thrombosis and most commonly atherosclerosis. Most of the peripheral arterial disease patients are asymptomatic until the time they develop gangrene leading to loss

of limb. According to Sabiston's Textbook of Surgery, 20% - 50% Peripheral Arterial Disease (PAD) cases are asymptomatic. Only 10% - 35% present with claudication pain and another 20% present with nonspecific local symptoms. Diagnosis of PAD is critical because people with PAD have 4-5 times the risk of a heart attack or a stroke than the age-matched population (5). These asymptomatic patients realize their predicament too late, even for secondary prevention. They continue to smoke and are non-compliant with medications for diabetes mellitus as they are asymptomatic and lead a comfortable life, therefore not needing to change their current lifestyle. It is a known fact and proven by studies that prevalence of PAD is associated with diabetes (6), male gender, smoking, hypertension, dyslipidaemia, race, hyperhomocysteinemia and renal disease (5). According to a study done in urban Chennai, the prevalence of PAD in the general urban population was 3.2%. It found that age and hypertension were the major risk factors. The prevalence was 7.8% among those with known diabetes (6). In a cross-sectional study done in the United States of America over a period of five years between 2003 and 2008 among 3.6 million participants, the prevalence of PAD was 3.6% in the general population with an exponential increase in successive decades of life (7).

A study done in Japan comparing a cohort of 362 patients with PAD and a matched cohort without PAD revealed a higher risk of myocardial infarction (2.2% against 0.2%, p-value 0.019), ischaemic stroke (4.1% vs 0.5%, p-value 0.001) in the first year of the study. Total annual health costs were significantly higher in the PAD cohort (p-value <0.001)(8). In the United States, a total of \$4.37 billion was spent by the national health insurance program (Medicare) on peripheral arterial disease-related

medical care in 2001, 88% of which was spent on inpatient care. The expenditure increased with age of the patient as they needed longer inpatient treatment (9). Over the past 17 years, the cost is bound to have dramatically risen. Early identification is a must in these circumstances.

In a study done in the US and five major European countries (France, Germany, Spain, Italy and the United Kingdom) increased absenteeism, overall work impairment and difficulty in activities of daily living were seen in people with PAD (p<0.05). Similarly, the number of outpatient visits, inpatient treatment and casualty visits were higher in the PAD group (p<0.05) (10). Another study estimated a cumulative cost of \$7,445 for asymptomatic PAD patients, \$7,000 for patients with claudication, \$10,430 in patients with lower limb amputations secondary to PAD and \$11,693 in patients who had revascularization over a period of two years (11). In France, a cohort study done from 2007-2011 evaluated that the total annual management cost in the PAD group was \in 14,949 as opposed to \in 3812 in the control group (12).

PAD can affect the mental well-being of those affected. A systematic review of 28 studies found the prevalence of depression among those with PAD to be as high as 36% to 48%. The study also found that women with PAD were more pre-disposed to have depression (13). Depressive symptoms among patients with PAD above the age of 65 was estimated to be 30% - 60% (14).

Low ABI can be used as a surrogate for predicting cognitive decline and may be used to identify people who could potentially end up with cognitive impairment (15). It has been said that 8% - 67% of patients with PAD perform poorly (<5% of controls) when tested on non-verbal memory, concentration, executive function, perceptuo-motor speed and manual dexterity (16).

Peripheral venous insufficiency is a chronic condition, most commonly associated with incompetent valves. It encompasses a vast array of morphological and functional abnormalities over a prolonged period of time (17). In standing position, if the subcutaneous veins in the lower limbs are measured at more than 3 mm in diameter, then it is defined as a varicose vein (18). According to certain studies done in India and the United States (extrapolation), the prevalence of venous disease is 15-20% in India (17,18). Female gender, hereditary predisposition, trauma, occupation and pregnancy were found to be major risk factors (20). Congenital varicose veins are also seen in some individuals (17). Peripheral vascular disease, especially venous congestion, is a preventable cause of chronic ulcers/gangrene/ Deep Vein Thrombosis (DVT)/amputation if diagnosed at an early stage and treated appropriately. A spectrum of venous abnormalities including intradermal venous dilatation, 1-3 mm size venules as well as varicose veins falls under chronic venous disorder (17). Chronic venous disorders lead to chronic venous insufficiency which causes tissue damage due to perivascular inflammation. Due to various cytokine-mediated mechanisms, the dermal barrier is weakened and is easily infiltrated by pathogens and allergens (21).

The Bonn Vein Study done in Germany among 3072 patients showed that 49.1% of the men and 62.1% of the women between the ages of 18 and 79 had symptoms of chronic venous disease (22). The American Venous Forum conducted a National Venous Screening Program among 2234 individuals. The prevalence of venous disease based on the CEAP classification from C0-C6 was 29%, 29%, 23%, 10%, 9%, 1.5% and 0.5% respectively (23). It is very common for less severe forms to progress to chronic venous congestion. 70% of people with advanced Chronic Venous Disease had had previous venous disorder as opposed to only 30% who had the disease after a thrombotic incident (24).

In the United States of America, it has been estimated that the annual expenditure (direct medical cost) on Chronic Venous Disease may be anywhere between 150 million and 1 billion US dollars (25). In the United Kingdom, 2% of the health care budget is spent on venous ulcers. GBP 5.7 billion is spent per year for managing all types of wounds.19% of these wounds were leg ulcers. According to this study, 1.5% of all adult population had an undifferentiated leg ulcer. There were 278,000 venous ulcers noted in that year which indicates that 1 in 170 adults had an ulcer in the study year (25).

It is commonplace to underdiagnose and subsequently not treat people with venous disease. This leads to the development of complications and the attending financial and social burden on the patient and the society. Chronic venous ulcers are recurring and it also is associated with discharge, foul smell, ghastly appearance and these have physical, psychological and emotional implications. A systemic review shows that chronic venous disease negatively affects the quality of life among individuals (27). Pain, fatigue and lack of mobility have been found to be some of the physical impacts. Lack of mobility in itself further leads to worsening of the venous congestion and ends up as a vicious cycle. Social isolation, altered body image, lack of sleep, frustration have all been associated with venous leg ulcers. Fear of isolation and dependence is

another key issue faced by patients with chronic venous congestion (28). Lower education and low income were further found to complicate quality of life among people with chronic venous disease. Younger people with the disease were found to have more psychosocial burden (29). A study done in Sao Paulo among 60 people, estimated prevalence of depression among patients with venous disease to be 91.66%. Sadness, negative body image, feeling of worthlessness, decreased libido and social withdrawal were the five main symptoms commonly associated with chronic venous disease. One person in the study even reported suicidal ideation (30).

As there is a paucity of information on peripheral arterial and venous disease particularly in the rural Indian community, this study was carried out to determine the prevalence and risk factors for peripheral vascular disease in such a population.

2. OBJECTIVES

- To estimate the prevalence of Peripheral Arterial Disease (PAD) among adults in a rural community in South India.
- To estimate the prevalence of Chronic Venous Disease (CVD) among adults in a rural community in South India.
- To assess the associated risk factors of Peripheral Arterial Disease among adults in this population
- To assess the associated risk factors of Chronic Venous Disease among adults in this population.

3. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

1. Peripheral Arterial Disease (PAD)

Peripheral arterial disease is the term used for partial or complete obstruction of one or more peripheral arteries (upper and lower limb extremities) (31). Globally 202 million individuals were living with peripheral arterial disease, out of whom 69.7% patients were from Low and Middle-income countries. 54.8 million individuals were from Southeast Asia alone (32). The prevalence of PAD by age as described by the Trans-Atlantic Inter-Society Consensus document is given below (33).





Source: Journal of Vascular Surgery Volume 45, Issue 1, Supplement, January 2007, Pages S5-S67

1.1 Definitions and Nomenclature for vascular diseases as defined by the Atherosclerotic Peripheral Vascular Disease Symposium II published in 2008 (31) :

<u>Asymptomatic PAD</u>: Abnormal ABI at rest or after exercise, or other objective evidence of PAD but no limb symptoms. (31)

<u>Claudication</u>: Abnormal ABI at rest or after exercise with reproducible lower extremity muscle fatigue or discomfort on exertion, relieved by rest within 10 mins (31).

<u>Atypical Claudication</u>: Abnormal ABI at rest or after exercise with leg pain on exertion that is not consistent with classic claudication; may include calf, thigh, or buttock (31).

<u>Critical Limb Ischaemia</u>: Haemodynamic evidence of severe PAD with distal leg pain at rest, with or without ischaemic ulcers or gangrene (31).

<u>Acute Limb Ischaemia</u>: Haemodynamic evidence of severe PAD with acute limb pain and neurological dysfunction (31).

<u>Abnormal ABI</u> refers to an ABI <0.90 or >1.30 as both are associated with an increased prevalence of PAD both locally and systemically (35).

1.2 Anatomic localization of types of presentation

<u>Asymptomatic</u>: The Progression of Early Subclinical Atherosclerosis (PESA) study in 4184 asymptomatic participants between the ages of 40 and 54 showed subclinical atherosclerosis in 63% of the population (71% among men and 48% among women) (36). The obstructive plaques were most commonly seen in the iliofemoral region (44%), followed by the carotid arteries (31%) and the aorta (25%). The coronaries had plaques in only 18% of the people. In another study, 72% of men aged between 40 and

59 had asymptomatic atherosclerosis (37). Magnetic resonance angiography is however not necessary or indicated in asymptomatic patients.

Symptomatic: A series of 11.890 patients with atherosclerosis who were symptomatic were followed up for 25 years and were found to have the disease in four major arterial beds. These are, the coronary arterial bed, the major branches of the aortic arch, the visceral branches of the abdominal aorta and the terminal abdominal aorta and its major peripheral branches. In this study, it was found that prevalence was highest in the lower extremity arteries followed by the coronary arteries. It also showed that patients with coronary artery atherosclerosis and visceral artery disease presented much earlier and at a younger age group than patients with peripheral arterial disease. The rate of progression of the disease also differed substantially. It was fastest in the aortic arch and the visceral bed. Patients with concomitant risk factors like smoking and co-morbid illnesses like diabetes mellitus had the greatest risk for progression of the disease. Interestingly, a disease in the abdominal aorta and its terminal branches had the highest probability of developing the disease in a new arterial bed while the coronary disease patients rarely developed atherosclerosis in any further regions. Disease in the aortic branch was most likely to progress to disease in the abdominal aorta and its terminal branches and vice versa (38). It has been found that diabetes is more common among people with distal atherosclerosis (p=0.004)than in those with proximal arterial disease (39).

Risk Factors of PAD

44,985 men in the United States of America with no cardiovascular disease at baseline were part of the Health Professionals Follow-up Study and were followed up for a median of 24.2 years. There were 537 incident cases of PAD. After adjusting for each other factor, it was found that Type 2 Diabetes, smoking, hypercholesterolemia and hypertension were all significantly and independently associated with an increased risk of PAD. Men without any of the four risk factors were found to have a hazard ratio of 0.23 (95% CI 0.14-0.36) which signifies a 77% protection. Each additional risk factor had a multivariable-adjusted hazard ratio of 2.06 (95% CI 1.88-2.26) (40).

A systemic review of community-based studies showed that prevalence was less among men in Low or Middle-Income Countries (LMIC) as opposed to High-Income Countries (HIC), 2.89% vs 5.41% in the 45-49 year age group and 14.94% vs 18.83% in the 85-89 year age group. In LMIC, prevalence was higher among women than men especially in the lower age group (6.31% vs 2.89%). Smoking was found to be a major risk factor in both LMIC and HIC (OR 1.42, 95% CI 1.25-1.62 and OR 2.72, 95% CI 2.39-3.09 respectively). Other risk factors in LMIC and HIC respectively are, Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (1.47[1.29-1.68] vs 1.88[1.66-2.14]), hypertension (1.36[1.24-1.50] vs 1.55[1.42-1.71]) and hypercholesterolemia (1.14[1.03-1.25] vs 1.19[1.07 vs 1.33]) (32).

The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) done in the United States of America in 1999-2000 showed that Black Americans (OR 2.83), hypertensives (OR 1.75), diabetics (2.71), patients with dyslipidaemia (OR 1.68), people with poor renal function (OR 2.00) and above all, current smokers (OR 4.46)

were at a higher risk of developing Peripheral Arterial Disease. Elevated blood fibrinogen levels and C-reactive protein were also found to be associated with PAD (41).

Among a random sample of patients from the prospective cohort 'Men born in 1914'in Malmo, Sweden, it was found that the median plasma triglyceride levels and mean systolic blood pressure were higher in patients with ABI less than 0.90 (42). In the same cohort, the prevalence of PAD was found to be significantly higher among diabetics than non-diabetics (29% vs 12%, p=0.003) and also associated with increased cardiac events and a higher incidence of cardiac mortality among diabetics with PAD (43).

Data from the Atherosclerosis Risk in Community (ARIC) study showed that increased Low-Density Lipoproteins (LDL) and decreased High-Density Lipoproteins (HDL) were seen in people with lower ABI (<0.90). It was also found that ABI of <0.80 or >1.20 had a higher proportion of men and the mean height was significantly more (p<0.001) (44).

In a study done among 114 French Canadians who had had an angiography and been confirmed to have peripheral vascular atherosclerosis, it was found that high plasma triglyceride concentration was associated with increased severity of atherosclerosis, especially in the younger age group. On paper electrophoresis, 56.1% of patients with PAD had normal lipoprotein pattern (45). The original cohort of the Framingham heart study was followed up for 38 years and risk profile for intermittent claudication was identified. Cigarette smoking, coronary artery disease, diabetes, hypertension,

increased serum cholesterol, age and male sex were found to be associated with an increased risk of PAD (46). Relative risk was highest for cigarette smoking followed by diabetes, hyperhomocysteinaemia, hypertension and hypercholesterolemia (47).

A nested case-control study was done using blood samples which were collected initially from a concurrent cohort of 14,916 male physicians aged between 40 and 84 years in the United States, who were healthy at baseline. With a mean follow up of 9 years 140 men developed PAD. It was found that higher levels of CRP, fibrinogen, Apolipoprotein B-100, Total Cholesterol, Triglycerides, LDL and total cholesterol-HDL ratio and lower levels of HDL, Apolipoprotein A1at baseline were good predictors of developing PAD. High Total Cholesterol-HDL was found to be the strongest predictor (RR 3.9, CI 1.7-8.6) after multivariate analysis. CRP was also a strong predictor (RR 2.8, CI 1.3-5.9) according to the study (48). The extent of lower limb disease in young patients was found to be strongly associated with postmethionine plasma homocysteine level (p=0.003) (49). Another meta-analysis revealed a significant association between hyperhomocysteinemia and PAD (OR 6.8, CI 2.9-15.8) (50).

The Framingham cohort revealed that abdominal aortic calcification had a moderate positive linear relationship with hereditary factors (R=0.49, p<0.001) (51). Another study looked at the intimal-medial thickness of the common carotid artery and internal carotid artery and its heritability and found that the coefficient of correlation was high in both cases (R= 0.92 and 0.86 respectively) (52). A study done among Latin American families found that genetic factors were responsible for 50% of the variability of intima-media thickness of arteries (53).

Age: Increasing age has been found as an unequivocal risk factor for PAD. The NHANES study (41) has shown the following prevalence of PAD in each age group,

-above 80 years of age: 23.2%

-above 70 years of age: 14.5%

-from 60 to 69 years of age: 4.7%

-from 50 to 59 years of age: 2.5%

-from 40 to 49 years of age: 0.9%

Sex: Though literature is ambiguous about predominance in either sex, most of the available studies show a predilection in men. The comparison of global estimates of prevalence of peripheral artery disease shows no significant difference in prevalence between men and women (32).

The German Epidemiological Trial on Ankle Brachial Index (getABI) was done among 6880 consecutive primary care patients above the age of 65 years. It showed a prevalence of PAD as 19.8% among men as opposed to 16.8% among women (54).

Cigarette smoking: Cigarette smoking has also been shown as a significant risk factor for PAD. It is a predisposing factor of atherosclerosis by causing vascular endothelial damage, releasing free radicals and thrombosis (55). Nicotine and cotinine were found to cause smooth muscle cell proliferation resulting in intimal hyperplasia(56). It causes endothelial dysfunction, increases platelet adhesion and aggregation and also influences the formation of the fibrin framework thereby activating the coagulation cascade and promoting thrombus formation (57). This

process was found to be augmented in younger women who were on oral contraceptive pills. Cigarette smoking has also been found to increase total cholesterol, triglycerides and low-density lipoproteins and also decrease high-density lipoproteins which by themselves can increase the risk of atherosclerosis (58). Cigarette smoking was also found to influence the sympathetic outflow thereby causing increased blood pressure (59).

Diabetes Mellitus: Diabetes Mellitus is an established risk factor for atherosclerosis. A retrospective study of arteriograms revealed that diabetic patients had the more severe arterial disease in the lower limbs and also more likely to end up with an amputation (OR 5.4, p<0.0001) (60). A 10-year follow-up study showed that patients with type 2 diabetes who had an ABI < 0.90 were found to be at a higher risk of all-cause mortality (p<0.05) and also of cardiovascular disease (HR 2.32, 95% CI: 1.27-4.22) (61). A longitudinal cohort study done amongst residents in Minnesota aged 50-70 showed a higher risk of mortality (HR 2.9, 95% CI 1.3-4.0) among patients with both PAD and Diabetes (62).

A meta-analysis of 13 observational studies was done to find an association between HbA1C and cardiovascular disease. It revealed a 10% to 26% increased risk of cardiovascular disease for every 1% increase in glycosylated haemoglobin among Type 2 diabetics (63).

A retrospective study done amongst patients with atherosclerosis in the aorta and other peripheral arteries showed that diabetics had a 5 times higher risk of having an amputation and 10 times the risk of mortality in comparison to non-diabetics (64). Chronic alcohol consumption (>20 years), though protective of atherosclerosis, was found to be a risk factor for PAD among patients with diabetes (OR 3.48, 95% CI 1.09-11.15) (65).

Hypertension: Hypertension is a very strong risk factor for PAD. Prevalence of hypertension in India was found to be 29.8% in a meta-analysis (66). This is in contrast to a prevalence of hypertension of 62.9% among patients with PAD in a study done in Kerala, India (67). The risk of developing intermittent claudication was found to be 2.5-4 times among hypertensives than non-hypertensive patients in the Framingham cohort (68). The NHANES study showed a higher prevalence of PAD among hypertensive patients (OR 1.75, 95% CI 0.97-3.13) (41). Prevalence of treatment for hypertension was also found to be lower among patients with PAD than in patients with Coronary Artery Disease (CAD) (69% vs 84%, p<0.001) (69).

In the United States of America, among people older than 60 years of age, PAD was found to be significantly associated with untreated hypertension (OR 1.68, 95%CI 1.13-2.50) as well as uncontrolled hypertension (OR 1.95, 95% CI 1.40-2.72) (70).

Health records of 1.25 million people above the age of 30 years were procured from the CALIBER (Cardiovascular research using Linked Bespoke studies and Electronic health Records) programme to analyse the effect of hypertension on 12 diverse presentations of cardiovascular disease including PAD.

This study found that PAD was associated more with raised systolic blood pressures than diastolic blood pressure readings. It also revealed an inverse relation with Mean Arterial Pressure (MAP) (HR 0.90, 95% CI 0.86-0.94) and a strong association with pulse pressure (HR 1.23, 95% CI 1.20-1.27) (71).

A non-concurrent cohort study which reviewed a database of over 4.2 million people between 30 and 90 years of age from 1990-2013 in the United Kingdom revealed a 63% increase in the risk of PAD for a 20mmHg increase in systolic blood pressure (HR 1.63, 95% CI 1.59-1.66) (72).

Dyslipidaemia: Lipids and lipoprotein abnormalities are an established cause of cardiovascular disease and are known to be associated with long-term adverse events. A case-control study showed that the prevalence of hyper-triglyceridaemia among men with PAD was higher by 42% compared to age and sex-matched controls (p-value <0.05). In the same study, it was found that prevalence of hypercholesterolemia and hyper-triglyceridaemia was higher among women with PAD as opposed to age and sex-matched controls (19% more, p value<0.01 and 82% more, p value<0.05 respectively) (73). On the other hand, High-Density Lipoproteins (HDL) and apolipoproteins A-I and A-II were found to be lower in patients with PAD (74).

A cohort of men aged between 35 and 64 years was followed up from 1974 to 1990 and the study revealed that lipoprotein-a levels were higher in men who developed intermittent claudication than others (46+/- 45 vs 33+/-35 mg/dL, p<0.05) (75).

A study done on 55 Caucasian men with premature PAD (onset of disease before 45 years of age) showed that increased lipoprotein a levels (>30 mg/dL) was a significant risk factor (OR 3.9, 95% CI 1.1-13.7). Raised apolipoprotein-B levels (>95 mg/dL)

was also found to be an independent risk factor for premature PAD among Caucasian men (OR 3.2, 95% CI 1.0-10.0) (76).

In the Framingham study, it was found that the odds of developing symptomatic PAD went up by 1.2 for every 40 mg/dL increase in total cholesterol (46). As discussed earlier total cholesterol by HDL ratio was found to be a strong predictor of risk of PAD (48).

Groups at risk for disease:

The ACC/AHA (American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association) guidelines have listed out specific population groups at risk for Peripheral Arterial Disease in the lower extremities (77). These groups are:

*People <50 years of age with diabetes and one other risk factor for atherosclerosis (hypertension, dyslipidaemia, current smoking etc.).

*People aged 50-69 years with a history of smoking OR diabetes.

*Any person who is 70 years old or above.

*Anyone with a history of symptoms suggestive of intermittent claudication or ischaemic rest pain.

*People with abnormal lower limb pulse examination.

*Patients with coronary artery disease or known atherosclerosis in any other vascular site (carotid artery, renal artery).

Clinical Presentation of PAD

The distribution of symptomatology among patients with PAD above 50 years of age is as follows (78),

- Threatened limb/Critical Limb Ischaemia (1%-2%)
- Classic Claudication (10%-35%)
- Atypical leg pain (40%-50%)
- Asymptomatic (20%-50%)

Fontaine classified PAD based on the clinical presentation of the patients. The following table is the Fontaine's classification of peripheral arterial disease (79).

Stage	Symptoms
Ι	Asymptomatic
II	Intermittent Claudication
II a	Classic claudication on walking>200 m
II b	Classic claudication on walking<200 m
III	Ischaemic Rest pain
IV	Necrosis or Gangrene

Table 3.1 Fontaine's Classification of PAD

Asymptomatic PAD: A vast majority of patients with PAD are asymptomatic. They may be picked up while screening, by ABI or Toe Pressure Index. Identifying asymptomatic PAD patients is essential as it is a vital indicator of systemic vascular atherosclerosis. Therefore, these people are at an increased risk of cardiovascular or cerebrovascular events. Asymptomatic patients can be started on conservative and

even medical management to prevent and control risk factors. Diet, exercise, smoking cessation, drugs like aspirin may all be started to reduce the risk of a major vascular event (78).

Atypical leg pain and Intermittent Claudication: As previously defined, claudication is a reproducible discomfort or pain in a particular group of muscle which is induced by exercise and relieved on resting. This is because of the insufficiency of blood supply to the concerned muscle during contraction. The blood supply may be adequate while the muscle group is at rest. Claudication and atypical lower limb pain are the most common symptoms associated with peripheral arterial diseases.

Patients with PAD who had intermittent claudication were found to have a higher prevalence of neuropathy, diabetes and spinal stenosis than controls. Similarly, people with atypical leg pain had fewer symptoms and their activities of daily living were lesser affected than patients with intermittent claudication (80).

In the PARTNERS program, 6417 people who were 'at risk' of PAD were studied. It was found that among people who already knew that they had PAD, 25% had no history of leg symptoms, 61% had atypical leg pain and 14% had intermittent claudication. Among those who were newly diagnosed to have PAD, 47% were asymptomatic, 47% had atypical leg symptoms and 6% had claudication (81).

Critical Limb Ischaemia: 1%-2% of patients with PAD above the age of 50 years present with threatened limb (82). Decreased perfusion, severe or extensive ulcers, presence and seriousness of infection can all be reasons for the threat to limb. Patients who present within 2 weeks of decreased limb perfusion are said to suffer from acute

limb ischaemia. If they present more than 2 weeks later then it becomes chronic ischaemia (33).

Acute limb ischaemia is most commonly due to thromboembolism secondary to atrial fibrillation or similar illnesses. It can also be due to a sudden occlusion of a chronically narrowed arterial lumen or due to dissection of the artery. By-pass or stent thrombosis may also be a common cause of acute limb ischaemia in people who have previously undergone intervention for PAD (78).

Chronic limb ischaemia is usually due to multiple occlusions in various segments of the arterial tree. However, isolated tibial artery disease has been known to cause chronic ischaemia in patients with diabetes mellitus especially among the elderly. Aortoiliac, femoropopliteal, and tibial segments are most frequently affected by atherosclerosis (83). Atherosclerotic plaques at various levels affect collateral circulation as well as decreasing the distal systolic blood pressure thereby affecting distal tissue perfusion. Chronic ischaemia may present with rest pain, gangrene or ulceration.

Symptomatology

<u>Lower Limb Pain</u> – This is the most common presentation of PAD. Patients may have different types and severity of pain depending on the extent of ischaemia. Most commonly, patients present with complaints of pain during activity which is relieved on rest especially over the buttocks, thigh and calf. This is repeatable and is called intermittent claudication. Patients may also present with rest pain, wherein they have a constant foot pain which increases on elevating the foot and is relieved by dependency. Atypical lower limb pain is also a common but non-specific symptom of PAD (78).

<u>Claudication</u> - Claudication is a term derived from the Latin word for limp. Classically Claudication presents as pain in the lower limbs after walking for a certain period of time and is relieved in less than 10 minutes of rest (31).

Isolated claudication of the foot is an uncommon presentation in PAD. It occurs in tibial or peroneal vessel occlusive disease. Calf pain, on the other hand, is the most common presenting complaint in PAD. It is usually due to femoropopliteal occlusive disease. Aortoiliac disease and common femoral artery atherosclerosis may cause buttock/hip or thigh claudication and also impotence in men (84).

<u>Atypical limb discomfort</u> - Atypical leg symptoms may be more common than claudication among patients with PAD as the perception of pain may vary due to comorbid illnesses and physical inactivity. Atypical limb complaints may be due to various other causes like neuralgia, myalgia, arthritis etc. All other causes must be considered before attributing the cause of this symptom to PAD (80).

<u>Rest pain</u>- According to John Cranley ischaemic rest pain is the pain that occurs over the toes and metatarsal heads at rest. Occasionally, the pain occurs proximally. The pain is usually aggravated on elevation or at horizontal position and is relieved in a dependent position(85). As opposed to claudication, pain may be relieved on walking as it increases local perfusion due to gravity. Chronic ischaemia can lead to ischaemic neuropathic pain which may present as burning, throbbing or shooting pain of the lower limbs.

22

<u>Ischaemic Ulcers</u> - Minor trauma can lead to small ulcers which worsen due to poor blood supply that does not meet the requisite demands of the healing tissue. These ulcers may also start out as pressure sores. The ulcers may themselves get infected and may also end up causing osteomyelitis in the underlying bone. Prompt recognition and treatment of an ischaemic ulcer are essential in saving the tissue. 84% of limb amputations were as a result of ulceration (86).

<u>Gangrene</u> - Ischaemia tends to alter skin colour. Pallor or blackening of the skin can both occur. This will lead to necrosis and may spread to the deeper tissues also. 55% of all limb amputations in diabetics could be attributed to gangrene (86).

Diagnosis of PAD

In 1962, the WHO/Rose questionnaire was developed as a screening tool for PAD. It was noticed to have a high specificity (90%-100%) but low sensitivity (60%-68%) (87).

The Edinburgh Claudication questionnaire was found to be more sensitive (91.3% [95% CI 88.1-94.5%]) and equally, if not more, specific (99.3% [95% CI 98.9-100%]). It also had good repeatability ($\kappa = 0.76$, p<0.001) after 6 months (87). However, the sensitivity and specificity are based on the physician's diagnosis and not necessarily using a gold standard method such as an angiogram. The Edinburgh Claudication questionnaire has been used in this study to diagnose symptomatic PAD.

Physical examination

*Appearance of the peripheries- Prolonged inadequate blood flow to the extremities may cause thinning of the skin which becomes dry, shiny and devoid of hair (79). The nails may be brittle and disfigured.

*Skin Temperature is a good indicator of decreased perfusion. The affected limb will be cool and demarcation of the warmth can help in assessing the extent and location of the occlusion. However, it may be confounded if both limbs are affected

*Skin Colour- Buerger's test is a serviceable adjunct to routine assessment of PAD (88). In this test, the lower limb is elevated above the level of the central venous pressure usually around 25 cm. This drains the deoxygenated blood from the peripheries and provides a valid assessment of the arterial blood flow. A normal limb will remain pink. However, an affected limb may become pale or dusky and a return to normal colour may take more than 20 s.

*Ulcers- Ischaemic ulcers are most frequently seen on the tips of the toes and the intertriginous areas between the toes. It may also be seen in focussed areas where there is increased pressure like the head of the metatarsals and the lateral malleoli.

*Gangrene- Both dry and wet gangrene may be seen in PAD. Dry gangrene is more common in PAD and there is a clear demarcation between the necrotic tissue and the viable tissue. Wet gangrene is a surgical emergency and should be dealt with appropriately at the earliest.
*Pulse- Palpation of the peripheral pulses is absolutely essential in any patient suspected to have PAD. At the very least the brachial pulse, radial pulse, posterior tibial artery pulse and dorsalis pedis pulse should be assessed (78).

Non-invasive diagnostic tests for PAD

History and examination of suspected PAD patients have to be corroborated with further investigations as independently clinical examination may not be sufficient proof to rule in, or rule out PAD (89).

Ankle-Brachial Index (ABI) is a simple, relatively inexpensive and accurate method of diagnosing PAD by assessing the ratio of systolic blood pressures in the upper and lower limbs using a Doppler ultrasonography apparatus (90). ABI predicts sites of occlusion found in angiography more accurately than just history and examination (83).

Using an ABI evaluation was found to be justified (ROC area 0.95+/-0.02) for detecting significant PAD (>50% occlusion)(91). This translated to a sensitivity of 79% and a specificity of 96% with an ABI cut off of 0.90.

The ACC/AHA guideline for the management of peripheral arterial disease patients (2005) prescribes computing ABI by dividing the higher of the two ankle systolic pressures to the higher of the two brachial systolic pressures (83).

Ankle Brachial Index (ABI) =
$$\frac{\text{Higher Ankle Systolic Pressure}}{\text{Higher Brachial Systolic Pressure}}$$

The interpretation of ABI according to the ACC/AHA guidelines are as follows (83),

ABI	Interpretation	
>1.30	Non-compressible	
1.00-1.29	Normal	
0.91-0.99	Borderline	
0.41-0.90	Mild to Moderate PAD	
0.00-0.40	Severe PAD	

 Table 3.2
 ACC/AHA (2011) interpretation of ABI

An ABI cut-off of <0.90 has been found to be 95% sensitive and 99% specific in identifying angiogram positive cases of PAD (92).

An ABI measurement of more than 1.30 is also strongly indicative of PAD. It has to be corroborated with a Toe-Brachial index. A higher ABI (>1.30) is considered predictive of systemic atherosclerosis and may indicate a higher risk of a cardiovascular event (35).

Higher ABI was found to increase risk of foot ulcers and neuropathy as well has having a poorer Quality of Life as against people with normal ABI (93).

Advantages of ABI:

- High Specificity
- Easy to perform
- Relatively inexpensive
- Can be done in a community set-up without many hassles
- Not time consuming

Disadvantages of ABI:

- Accurate values may not be arrived at in patients with non-compressible arteries
- A few studies have shown low sensitivity resulting in higher false negative rates (94).

Toe-Brachial Indices: Toe pressure index is arrived at by measuring the systolic pressure at the toes. It is an extremely useful method as it can be used in patients with non-compressive arteries. Non-compressive arteries are very common among diabetics and the elderly who also form the majority of the population at risk for PAD. A toe brachial index of <0.7 is diagnostic of lower limb PAD (83).

Digital perfusion can be measured and hence even small artery disease maybe picked up by TBI. The equipment may be difficult to handle and the personnel should be appropriately trained. It may not be feasible to carry out a community based screening using TBI as the reading requires expert technique and careful handling to preserve accuracy.

Angiography: Contrast angiography (Digital Subtraction Arteriography) is the definitive method for evaluation of peripheral vessels. CT angiogram and MR angiogram are also useful tools in diagnosis of PAD (95).

Other Methods of Diagnosis (96)

- Segmental pressure examination
- Pulse Volume recording
- Doppler Ultrasound

Natural history of the disease

Peripheral Arterial Disease presents with a wide array of symptoms which depends on the location and extent of atherosclerosis in the peripheral arteries and can range from mild calf pain on walking, to limb-threatening ischaemia.

A longitudinal study done on 403 patients to identify risk factors for progression of the disease, showed current smoking was a major risk factor. Elevated CRP, lipoprotein (a) and total cholesterol by HDL levels were also found to be associated with progression of disease in large vessels. In small vessel PAD, diabetes was found to be the prime risk factor(97). In a multi-ethnic study on atherosclerosis, ABI was measured 3 years apart on subjects from a varied ethnicity. In the study men and people with higher BMI were found to have a higher risk of having a high ABI (>=1.4) which is suggestive of intravascular calcification and atherosclerosis. African-Americans were found to be at a higher risk of having low ABI(<0.9) which indicates limb ischaemia (98). Thus, ethnicity, gender and BMI were found to be factors in the progression of the disease.

A systematic review of 35 studies with follow up periods ranging from 1 to 13 years was done and it found similar predictors of disease progression as mentioned above. In the follow-up period, it was found that 7% of asymptomatic patients developed Intermittent Claudication. Also, 21% of patients who had previously had intermittent claudication had developed critical limb ischaemia with 4%-27% of the patients ending up with an amputation (99). A population-based cohort study on 6915 PAD patients found that there was no significant difference between the two sexes as far as

the progression of peripheral arterial disease was concerned. However, men with PAD were found to be at a higher risk of having a myocardial infarction (adjusted HR=1.15) (100). In a study done on 59 ex-servicemen who were diagnosed to have PAD before the age of 45, it was found that 71% of them had significant (more than 50%) coronary artery disease. During the time of the study, five of the participants died. Four of them died due to acute coronary syndrome and one of them had a stroke (101).

A cross-sectional study was done among 416 patients with PAD. They were screened for internal Carotid artery disease. Major Internal Carotid Artery Disease (MICAD) (>75% obstruction) was seen in 14.9% of patients with PAD (102). This proportion of carotid artery disease was significantly higher than the proportion of patients with an aneurysm who have carotid artery disease (p<0.05) (102).

A majority of patients with PAD are unaware of their disease. More than half the patients with the condition are aware that they have the disease. Physicians pick up only 30% of the patients with PAD that they see (103).

In a prospective cohort study done among 6880 people above the age of 65 12.1% were found to have asymptomatic PAD. A further 8.6% had symptomatic PAD. PAD was found to be a strong predictor of all-cause mortality as well as severe vascular events (104). The PAD Awareness, Risk and Treatment: New Resources for Survival (PARTNERS) study was a multi-centre cross-sectional study done among 6979 patients who were either over 70 years of age or high-risk population (diabetics, smokers) between the ages of 50 and 69. 29% of these people had PAD. 13% had

PAD only while 16% had PAD and coronary artery disease. 47% had neither PAD nor CAD. Among patients with PAD, classic claudication was rare and seen only in 11% of the subjects. Interestingly 83% of patients with PAD at the time of recruitment knew that they had the disease but less than half (49%) their physicians knew about the diagnosis (81).

The Reduction of Athero-thrombosis for Continued Health (REACH) registry is an international, prospective, cohort study. Its database includes 68,000 patients who have been confirmed to have vascular disease(105). The following figure is based on the REACH data.



Fig 3.2 Overlap of atherosclerostic vascular diseases (106)

Source: Journal of Vascular Surgery Volume 45, Issue 1, Supplement, January 2007, Pages S5-S67 (106).

A longitudinal cohort study done in Minnesota among 50-70-year-old people with PAD, Diabetes or both showed that a decrease of 0.1 ABI had a 13% increase in the risk of death(62). A systemic review showed that PAD is an indicator of extensive atherosclerotic disease. It showed a 150% increase in the risk of mortality among patients with claudication (33). A graph showing the survival rate is shown below.





Source: Journal of Vascular Surgery Volume 45, Issue 1, Supplement, January 2007, Pages S5-S67 (107)

In the above graph, IC stands for Intermittent Claudication, CLI stands for Critical Limb Ischaemia.

The Minnesota study also showed that the relative hazard of mortality in patients with Diabetes and progressive PAD was 2.29 times as that of diabetics without PAD (62). The original cohort of the Framingham Heart Study was followed up for 38 years and 381 people who previously had asymptomatic PAD developed intermittent claudication. Cigarette smoking, diabetes, hypertension, age and dyslipidaemia were found to be associated with the progression of the disease (46). In a concurrent cohort study done among 1244 men with claudication, over a period of 15 years with a mean follow-up of 45 months, the cumulative risk of a person with claudication developing rest pain and ulceration over a 10 year period was 30% and 23% respectively. The study also inferred that diabetes mellitus and ABI were the only significant predictors for both ischaemic rest pain and ulcers (108).

A study done in Australia among 456 patients with intermittent claudication estimated a 5-year risk of amputation as 6.2% among patients who underwent early revascularization and 0.7% among patients who were managed conservatively initially (p=0.003) (109). A critical review of PAD among people over 50 years of age showed that 70%-80% of patients with intermittent claudication developed stable claudication within 5 years. A further 20% had a non-fatal cardiovascular event, including acute coronary syndrome and cerebrovascular accidents. The claudication worsened in 10%-20% of the patients and 1%-2% even developed critical limb ischaemia. 15%-30% of the people died within 5 years and three-fourth of the mortality was because of cardiovascular events (77,110). Another study showed that patients who had severe impairment due to pain while climbing stairs had a higher risk of all-cause mortality(Hazard ratio: 1.70; CI: 1.08-2.66) and cardiovascular system related deaths(Hazard ratio: 3.11; CI:1.30-7.47) than those with lesser impairment (111).

A study done among 109 symptomatic patients in Germany followed them for an average period of 104 months. 28 (25.7%) of the participants passed away and 10 (9.2%) of them died due to cancer. This amounts to 36% of the total all-cause mortality among symptomatic PAD patients. This can be explained by the high

prevalence of smokers among patients with PAD which may be the actual cause of the malignancy (112).

A cross-sectional study done among 423 people with PAD in Chicago estimated a prevalence of depression among PAD patients as 21.7% and was associated with increased impairment(113). Symptoms and subsequent impairment were also associated with poorer quality of life among older individuals in a cross-sectional study done among eighty symptomatic patients (114).

Critical limb ischaemia is manifested as ulcers or resting pain in the peripheries. Of all patients with symptomatic PAD 1%-2% patients have critical limb ischaemia. According to a systematic review, 21% of patients with intermittent claudication progressed to critical limb ischaemia(99). Smoking, dyslipidaemia and diabetes were found to be the major risk factors associated with critical limb ischaemia. Diabetes and ABI were found to be good predictors of the disease (97,108). In a review of 20 publications of 6118 patients with critical limb ischaemia, the cumulative mortality rate was 26%, 44% and 56% at 1 year, 3 years and 5 years respectively. Patients were classified as critical and sub-critical based on symptoms and ankle pressure in this study. 27% of patients in the low-risk group (only rest pain and ankle pressure > 40mmHg) did not have an amputation after being managed conservatively. However, in the high-risk group (peripheral ulcers or ankle pressure < 40 mmHg) 95% of patients managed conservatively ended up with an amputation as opposed to only 25% who underwent arterial reconstruction (115). According to a non-concurrent cohort study, the amputation rates were higher (17% v 3.9%, p value= 0.02) among people who had early onset of atherosclerosis in their peripheral arteries than the cohort with older people. The overall outcome was also found to be poorer (116).

Insulin resistance was also found to be associated with PAD and the progression of disease in older adults (117). The POPADAD (Prevention of Progression of Arterial Disease and Diabetes) trial was a multi-centre randomised control trial and it showed that 16% of 1276 asymptomatic patients with either Type 1 or Type 2 diabetes developed intermittent claudication at six years. Critical limb ischaemia was seen in 3% of the patients and 1.6% ended up with a major limb amputation. The study primarily found that aspirin and anti-oxidants have no role in influencing the progression of the disease (118).

2. Chronic Venous Disease (CVD)

Chronic Venous Disease/Disorders refer to the entire spectrum of functional or morphological abnormalities of the venous system (119). These disorders have been associated with significant morbidity and mortality.

Varicose veins are the most common and recognisable form of venous disease. Varicose veins are subcutaneous veins that are dilated ≥ 3 mm in diameter while the person is in an upright position (17). The Great Saphenous Vein (GSV) and the Small Saphenous Vein (SSV) are the most frequently affected veins. Lesser recognized forms of venous disease are telangiectasia, ankle oedema secondary to poor venous drainage, eczema, lipodermatosclerosis and healing or non-healing ulcers. Chronic Venous Insufficiency is a term used to describe the severe forms of venous disease. Ankle oedema, skin changes and ulcers due to venous disease are all classified as chronic venous insufficiency (119).

Pathophysiology of the disease

Retrograde venous blood flow for an abnormal period of time is called Venous Reflux. It can be due to idiopathic or congenital dysfunction/absence of valves. Trauma and thrombosis are two other major factors resulting in venous reflux. Pregnancy is another reason for venous reflux which may ultimately lead to varicosities.

Labropoulos et al. have concluded that the development of venous reflux is mostly due to a local process. This is most likely due to a weakness in the vessel wall. This issue can be multifocal, thereby resulting in venous disease in more than one place (120).

Bicuspid venous valves are present throughout the peripheral venous system directing the blood flow from distal to proximal and superficial to deep, except in the foot (121). Any pathology in these valves, either congenitally or due to trauma, thrombosis et cetera will cause backflow resulting in either venous congestion or deep venous thrombosis.

Lower muscle strength is also very important for the normal functioning of the venous system. People with chronic venous disease were found to have impaired lower limb muscle strength (122). The muscles, mainly the calf and the thigh muscles play an

35

important role in the circulation of venous blood as they serve as a pump that pushes the blood against gravity.

Various studies have shown that varicose veins are not because of thin walls but because of wall thickening in response to venous hypertension. This causes an increased production of collagen, proliferation of smooth muscle cells and elastin. It was also found that there is an abnormal accumulation of extracellular matrix in venous disease (123–125). The breakdown of the vascular extracellular matrix leads to increased vascular permeability leading to oedema.

The RBCs migrate from the vascular space into the tissues and subsequently degrades in the tissue leading to extravasation of iron and ferritin. This results in the characteristic discolouration of the skin specifically in the gaiter area of the leg (126).

Studies have shown that there is an increased accumulation of mast cells around the vessels in chronic venous disease leading to increased collagen accumulation and fibrosis (127). There is also increased permeability of the vessels leading to surrounding oedema (128). Together they cause severe fibrosing inflammation of the subcutaneous fat (Panniculitis) which binds the skin to the subcutaneous tissue. This condition is called Lipodermatosclerosis.

The accumulation of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) leads to ulcer formation which is non-healing in nature. These end up as chronic ulcers (129).

36

Epidemiology

A cross-sectional survey done in Edinburgh among 1566 subjects between the ages of 18 and 64 found a prevalence of Chronic Venous Insufficiency of 9% among men and 7% among women (p value<0.05) (130).

A cross-sectional study done in Italy among adult men (mean age 59.1) and women (mean age 50.4) showed a prevalence of telangiectasia among 14.7% asymptomatic women and 8.9% asymptomatic men (131). The same study estimated a prevalence of varicose veins at 15.1% among asymptomatic women and 8.0% among asymptomatic men.

A study done in the USA showed that the prevalence of varicose veins among Asians in the US was 18.4% above the age of 40 (132).

A study done in Perth, Western Australia, showed a prevalence of chronic venous ulcers as 0.62 per 1000 population (133). 90% of people with ulcers were found to be above the age of 60, who comprised 16.7% of the general population.

Risk Factors

Male gender, increasing age, obesity and a history of leg trauma were all found to be significant risk factors for CVD (134).

<u>Obesity</u>: Overweight and obesity has been found to be a major risk factor for venous disease (135–137). The Edinburgh Vein study showed 2.1 times (95% CI 1.0-4.4) higher risk of developing reflux in overweight patients (138). The Mean BMI was found to be higher in the group with superficial reflux (26.2kg/m², 95% CI 25.5-27.0) than in normal subjects (25.2 kg/m², 95% CI 24.8-25.6) (139).

A group of 104 healthy post-menopausal women between the ages 48-64 were chosen from the DIANA (DIet and ANdrogens) project and assessed for venous disease. It was found that a BMI of more than 30 in these women was significantly associated with venous disease (OR 5.8, 95% CI 1.2-28.2) (140).

<u>Trauma</u>: A case-control study done in the USA showed that a previous history of trauma or inflammation of the vessels (phlebitis) was found to be significantly associated with the development of chronic venous disorders (OR 2.4 and 25.7 respectively) (134).

<u>Pregnancy</u>: Previous pregnancy has been an established risk factor for venous reflux (139). Both hormonal and hydrostatic reasons are attributed to this. It is reckoned that new varicose veins develop in 28% of all pregnancies. This increases with each subsequent birth (141). Increased number of childbirths were associated with a higher risk of CVD(136). The San Diego Population study estimated a risk of chronic venous disease at 1.14 (95% CI 1.05-1.23) per birth (142).

<u>Gender</u>: A cross-sectional study done in Serbia showed a higher prevalence of venous disease among women than in men. However, the proportion of more severe form of the disease was significantly higher among the men (136). This was corroborated by the San Diego Population study where venous disease was more prevalent among women though the men had more frequent advanced disease (142). Another study showed that visible venous disease may be seen in 20%-25% of women but only in 10%-15% men (143).

<u>Height</u>: The Edinburgh Vein study revealed that increased height proved a significant risk factor for Venous Disease (OR 1.13, 95% CI 1.02-1.26) (139). A cross-sectional study done in rural Maharashtra showed by linear regression analysis that increased height contributed to a 12.9% increase in the saphenous vein diameter in the supine position. Height was also found to cause an 11.9% increase in diameter during Valsalva manoeuvre in people with chronic venous insufficiency (144).

<u>Genetic predisposition</u>: Hereditary factors have been known to predispose venous disease (135). A study done in France has shown a prevalence of venous disorders in 90% of people for whom both the parents have venous disease. The proportion becomes 25% in men and 62% in women for whom only one parent had venous disease and 20% of people whose parents did not have the disease (145).

A genetic study of chronic venous congestion was conducted in Italy. This study identified a marker on chromosome 16q24 which may be related to the development of varicose veins (146).

Varicose veins have been associated with Klippel-Trenaunay Syndrome (congenital defective/absence of venous valves), Lymphedema-distichiasis syndrome (associated with FOXC2 gene mutation), Cerebral Autosomal-Dominant Arteriopathy with Subcortical Infarcts and Leukoencephalopathy (CADASIL) (associated with Notch3 gene mutation), Chuvash Polycythaemia (an autosomal recessive disease caused due to a mutation in the von Hippel-Lindau gene in chromosome 3p25) and various other genetic disorders (147).

Clinical Presentation

History

An entire spectrum of symptoms can be seen in chronic venous disease. The most common ones are:

- Lower limb pain/discomfort
- Muscle cramps
- Pruritus
- Skin changes (hyperpigmentation, dryness)
- A Feeling of heaviness in the lower limbs
- Swelling of the lower limbs
- Non-healing ulcers

Physical Examination:

<u>Telangiectasia/reticular veins</u>- Telangiectasia is a confluence of intradermal venules <1 mm in diameter. They are the most commonly seen manifestation of venous disease. Reticular veins are dilated subdermal veins 1 mm-3 mm in size (131).

<u>Varicose Veins</u>- These are serpentine, dilated subcutaneous veins >3 mm in diameter. They are the most recognisable form of venous disease.

<u>Oedema</u>- Unilateral oedema in association with venous malformations should lead to a high suspicion of venous insufficiency. It is limited to the extremities and decreases on lying down. Diuretics may not be helpful in this setting and may even lead to hypoperfusion. <u>Skin changes</u>- As discussed previously, the breakdown of the extravasated RBCs lead to deposition of hemosiderin in the subcutaneous tissue leading to pigmentation. This pigmentation is usually seen around the medial malleolus.

Avascular fibrosis leads to Atrophie Blanche, which are hypo-pigmented spots which are prone for ulceration in the future. Atrophie Blanche is again commonly seen around the medial aspect of the ankle.

<u>Lipodermatosclerosis</u>- As mentioned earlier, chronic venous congestion causes fibrosing panniculitis of the subcutaneous tissue leading to induration causing lipodermatosclerosis. This starts off locally but progresses and involves the entire lower limb circumferentially.

<u>Chronic Venous Ulcers</u>: Venous ulcers are the common ending point of severe chronic venous congestion. A study done in Brazil showed that age above 60 years was found to have 4 times the risk of developing a non-healing venous ulcer. Extensive lipodermatosclerosis was found to have an 8.7 times higher risk while previous ulcers were attributed a whopping 19.9 times risk of developing a recurrence (148).

They are usually seen in the Gaiter area. They can occur elsewhere in the leg if there is preceding trauma. But chances of ulceration above the knee and in the forefoot are extremely rare. There may be more than one ulcer. Venous ulcers exhibit exquisite tenderness, are shallow, have a granulation base and are exudative. The ulcer borders are irregular but well demarcated. The CEAP classification is used for diagnosing and classifying chronic venous disorders. Physical examination is hence an important part in the diagnosis of the disease.

The revised CEAP (Clinical, Etiologic, Anatomic and Pathophysiologic) classification of venous disease is described below (149).

Clinical Classification

- C0- No physical signs of venous disease
- C1- Reticular veins or telangiectasia
- C2- Varicose veins
- C3- Ankle Oedema
- C4a- Eczema or hyperpigmentation
- C4b- Atrophie Blanche or Lipodermatosclerosis
- C5- Healed Ulcer (Venous)
- C6- Active Ulcer (Venous)
- S- Symptomatic (as listed above)
- A- Asymptomatic

Etiologic Classification:

Ec- Congenital

Ep- Primary

Es- Secondary (post trauma/thrombosis)

En- No identifiable venous cause

Anatomic Classification:

As- Superficial veins

Ap- Perforators

Ad- Deep veins

An- No identifiable venous locations

Pathophysiologic Classification:

Pr- Venous Reflux

Po- Venous Obstruction

Pr, o- Venous reflux and obstruction

Pn- No identifiable venous pathophysiology

Diagnosis

The diagnosis of venous disorders is mainly clinical. The CEAP classification is used for diagnosis as well as classification. Venous reflux is diagnosed by duplex ultrasound by measuring the duration of retrograde flow. Labropoulos et al. defined the cut off for venous reflux as a reversed flow of more than 500 ms in the calf veins (both superficial and deep) and more than 1000 ms in the more proximal femoropopliteal veins(150).

Duplex ultrasound helps in identifying the nature of reflux and also the geography (superficial, perforator or deep vein). This helps in planning management.

Definition of complications:

Complications are classified as major and minor based on the following factors(152).

Minor Complications-

- No treatment, no long-lasting consequences
- Nominal treatment, overnight hospital stay

Major Complications-

- Requires treatment, short-term hospital stay (<48 hours)
- Requires major intervention, long-term hospital stay (>48 hours)
- Adverse sequelae with permanent effect
- Death

Assessment of Severity: The severity of venous disease can be ascertained by the scores described in the following table (151).

	None- 0	Mild- 1	Moderate- 2	Severe- 3
Pain/Discomfort		Occasional (not restricting daily activities)	Daily pain (restricting but not preventing daily activities)	Daily pain (limits regular daily activities)
Varicose veins (≥3mm in standing position)		Few, scattered	Affects calf OR thigh	Affects calf AND thigh
Venous Oedema		Restricted below the ankle	Above the ankle but below the knee	Extends above the knee
Skin pigmentation (presuming venous origin)	None or focal	Limited to the peri-malleolar region	Diffuse, but below the lower third of the calf region	Widely distributed, involving the upper third of the calf region
Inflammation		Limited to the peri-malleolar region	Diffuse, but below the lower third of the calf region	Widely distributed, involving the upper third of the calf region
Induration		Limited to the peri-malleolar region	Diffuse, but below the lower third of the calf region	Widely distributed, involving the upper third of the calf region
Active Ulcer number	0	1	2	≥3
Active Ulcer duration		<3 months	3 months-1 year	>1 year
Active Ulcer size		Diameter <2 cm	Diameter 2cm- 6 cm	Diameter >6 cm
Compression therapy	Not used	Intermittent use	Used on most days	Full compliance

Table 3.3Revised Venous Clinical Severity Score

4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Setting

The study was conducted in the **Kaniyambadi block**, Vellore District, Tamil Nadu, India. There are 82 villages in Kaniyambadi block and it and has a population of over one lakh twenty thousand people. The Community Health and Development (CHAD) program run by the department of Community Health, Christian Medical College (CMC),Vellore is located in Bagayam. The Government Vellore Medical College (GVMC) is in the Adukkamparai village of Kaniyambadi. There are also four peripheral health centres (PHCs) located within the block in Kammavanpet, Kathalampet, Kaniyambadi and Sholavaram villages. Apart from these there are many private clinics and hospitals providing health care to the people of Kaniyambadi block.

The study was done in 4 villages, namely Munjurpet, Kattuputhur, Veppempet, and Kaniyambadi Puthur. These villages were chosen as they had the largest population among all the villages in each PHC area.

The CHAD programme has been functioning in Kaniyambadi block for over 40 years. It provides primary and secondary care and is at close proximity to two tertiary/quaternary care centres (CMC and GVMC). CHAD operates based on a pyramid system. At the base of the pyramid are the Part Time Community Health Workers (PTCHWS) who are local villagers who provide a vital liaison between the community and the health system. Each village has a PTCHW and they report to a Health Aide. The Health Aide is a qualified Auxiliary Nurse and Midwife (ANM) who cover 3-5 villages, which accounts to a population of 5000-7000. All vital events births to deaths, marriages to pregnancies are documented and reported by the Health Aides to the Public Health Nurses (PHNs). The PHNs visit the villages weekly and have a record of all pregnancies and an immunization register. A list of patients with Non-communicable disease is also maintained and updated regularly by the Health Aides in conjunction with the PHNs. Each village is visited once in 4 weeks by the area doctor (usually a PG registrar) and health care is provided in the village. This ensures an efficient system of record maintenance and enables proper follow-up of patients. It is in this resource rich setting that this study was embarked upon as there was a veritable void in knowledge of peripheral arterial disease in the community. The following is a map of Kaniyambadi.

Fig 4.1 Map of Kaniyambadi



Study Design

This study was a community based cross sectional study.

Study Population

<u>Inclusion Criteria:</u> Adults above the age of 18 years who were permanent residents of Kaniyambadi Block, Vellore and were willing to participate in the study.

Exclusion criteria: Bilateral upper/lower limb amputees/absence of limbs

Study Variables

Peripheral arterial disease was diagnosed by measuring the <u>Ankle-Brachial Index</u> (<u>ABI</u>). ABI was measured using a handheld Doppler apparatus and an aneroid sphygmomanometer.

Steps of measuring ABI

- The participant was made to lie supine on a flat surface (floor/cot).
- Systolic BP reading was measured in all 4 limbs using the aneroid sphygmomanometer and a Doppler apparatus.
- The highest recorded reading in the lower limb was divided by the higher reading between the upper limbs to arrive at the ABI.

The diagnostic criteria are as below:

ABI	Interpretation
>1.30	Non-compressible
1.00-1.29	Normal
0.91-0.99	Borderline
0.41-0.90	Mild to Moderate PAD
0.00-0.40	Severe PAD

Table 4.1 ACC/AHA ABI Interpretation guidelines

<0.90 and >1.30 were considered abnormal ABI and probable PAD.

Chronic Venous Disorders were diagnosed and classified based on the <u>CEAP</u> (Clinical, Etiology, Anatomy, and Pathophysiology) classification. The Clinical Classification is as follows (149),

- Class 0 No visible or palpable signs of venous disease
- Class 1 Telangiectasia, reticular veins, malleolar flare
- Class 2 varicose veins
- Class 3 Oedema without skin changes
- Class 4 4a) hyperpigmentation, venous eczema, 4 b) lipodermatosclerosis
- Class 5 Skin changes with healed ulceration
- Class 6 Skin changes with active ulceration

Exposure variables

- Smoking •
- Alcohol ٠
- Gender •
- Diabetes Mellitus
- Systemic Hypertension

• Occupation

- Socio-economic Status
- Race

profile

- Lipid • HbA1C, Creatinine,
- Education •

The data was collected using the following sources.

Table 4.2 Sources of data

Data	Sources
Smoking	
Alcohol Gender Age Diabetes Mellitus Systemic Hypertension Education Socio-economic Status	Semi-structured, pilot tested questionnaire to collect data on socio demography and risk factors of the disease Chart Review was done to confirm medical history.
Obesity	
Ankle Brachial Index	Handheld Doppler ultrasound probe, Aneroid Sphygmomanometer
Chronic Venous Disorder	Clinical examination
Haemoglobin, serum creatinine, Lipids, HbA1C	Blood investigations

Socio Economic Status was calculated using the BG Prasad scale January 2018. The <u>BG Prasad scale</u> uses per capita family income per month to classify SES as follows:

- Upper class : $\geq \gtrless 6528$
- Upper Middle class: ₹ 3264 ₹ 6527
- Middle class: ₹ 1959 ₹ 3263
- Lower middle class: ₹ 979 ₹ 1958
- Lower class: ≤₹ 978

The cumulative dose of cigarette smoking was expressed as pack-years. One packyear was regarded as the equivalent of 20 cigarettes smoked per day for one year (153).

The definition of a standard drink varies from nation to nation. In India, 10 mL of absolute alcohol is considered a standard drink. The classification based on the strength of alcohol is given below (154),

Туре	Percentage of Alcohol	Quantity (mL)
Champagne	13	100
Wine	13	100
Fortified Wine	20	60
Light Beer	2.7	425
Regular Beer	4.9	285
Spirit	40	30

Table 4.3 Standard drink in India

Body Mass Index was calculated and classified according to the WHO Asia-Pacific classification,

BMI	Classification
<18.5	Underweight
18.5-22.9	Normal
23.0-24.9	Overweight
≥25	Obese

Table 4.4 WHO Asia/Pacific Classification of BMI

Study Tools

- An Aneroid Sphygmomanometer is a device used to measure blood pressure, composed of an inflatable cuff to collapse and then release the artery under the cuff in a controlled manner and a mechanical manometer to measure the pressure.
- A weighing scale was used for measuring weight that uses gravity as the primary source of resistance and a combination of simple machines to convey that resistance to the person using the machine
- A height rod is a standardized instrument used for measuring the height of subjects
- A Semi-structured, pilot tested questionnaire was used to collect data on socio demography and risk factors of the disease. It has been attached in the Annexure.

Sample Size Calculation

The prevalence of PAD has been estimated to be anywhere between 3% and 7% in the general population (155). The sample size was therefore calculated using prevalence as 3%.

p = 3; q= 97

Absolute precision, d = 1.5

 $n=4pq/d^2=517$

Design effect = $2 \times n$

Therefore, n= 1034 participants

Sampling Technique

A 2 stage cluster random sampling technique was used.

- Four villages with the largest population in their respective PHC areas were chosen purposively.
- Starting with the centre of the village, consecutive streets were selected.
- All eligible members of the households in each street were taken until a sample of 300 people was attained in each village except one (Munjurpet) where 251 participants were recruited.
- If there was a member temporarily absent in a household the particular household was visited thrice before not including that person in the study.

Training in measurement of ABI

The investigator was trained in the vascular lab of the department of Vascular Surgery for 10 days in the technique of measuring ABI.

Data entry and analysis

Data was entered in Epidata v3.1.

Analysis was carried out in SPSS v23.0.

5. RESULTS

Sociodemographic profile:

A total of 1151 individuals were included in the study. The distribution of the study population by age is described below.

Fig 5.1 Sex distribution in the study population



The majority of the study population (61%) were women.

Table 5.1Age distribution of the study population

Age Group	Frequency	Percent
<30	218	18.9
30-39	220	19.1
40-49	226	19.6
50-59	207	18
60-69	175	15.2
70-79	80	7
≥80	25	2.2
Total	1151	100

Most of the study population are between the age group 30-49 (38.7%)



Fig 5.2 Age Distribution of the study population

 Table 5.2
 Description of study population by Religion

Religion	Frequency	Percent
Hindus	1098	95.4
Muslims	33	2.9
Christians	20	1.7
Total	1151	100

The majority of the study population was Hindu. All the 33 Muslims were from one village (Veppempet).

Education	Frequency	Percent
Nil	249	21.6
Primary	176	15.3
Middle	240	20.9
High	247	21.5
Higher Secondary	144	12.5
Graduate / Post Graduate	84	7.3
Professional / Honours	11	1.0
Total	1151	100

 Table 5.3 Description of the study population by Education

42.3% of the study population have completed high school education. 21.6% have never had formal education.

 Table 5.4 Description of the study population by Literacy

Literacy	Frequency	Percent
Illiterate	313	27.2
Read Only	70	6.1
Read And Write	768	66.7
Total	1151	100

From the above tables, the literacy rate corroborates with the level of education.

27.2% of the study population were illiterate. 66.7% knew how to read and write.

Occupation	Frequency	Percent
Unemployed	504	43.8
Unskilled	330	28.7
Semi Skilled	144	12.5
Skilled	49	4.3
Clerical/Shop Owner	86	7.5
Semi-Professional	27	2.3
Professional	11	1.0
Total	1151	100

Table 5.5Description of the study population by Occupation

Most of the study population were unemployed, possibly due to the high unemployment rates among women who constituted the majority of the subjects. Occupation was classified based on the Modified Kuppuswamy Scale January

2017(156).

Table 5.6Description of study population by Family Type

Family	Frequency	Percent
Joint/Extended	463	40.2
Nuclear	688	59.8
Total	1151	100

Almost 60% of the participants were part of a nuclear family.

SES (BG Prasad Jan '18)	Frequency	Percent
Lower	224	19.5
Lower Middle	398	34.6
Middle	295	25.6
Upper Middle	157	13.6
Upper	77	6.7
Total	1151	100

Table 5.7Description of Study Population by SES

The bulk of the study subjects were from the lower middle class (34.6%). There was a sizeable chunk of participants from the Middle class (25.6%) also.

Table 5.8Description of Study Population by Smoking Habits

Smoking	Frequency	Percent
Current	94	8.2
Past	56	4.9
Never	1001	87.0
Total	1151	100

All the 150 people with a history of smoking were men (33.7%).

Table 5.9Description of Study Population by Alcohol Consumption

Alcohol	Frequency	Percent
Current	199	17.3
Past	46	4.0
Never	906	78.7
Total	1150	100

All 245 people who had or have been consuming alcohol were men (55.1%). None of the women smoked tobacco or consumed alcohol in their life.

Table 5.10	Frequency of Oral (Contraceptive Pills (OCP)	use among women
-------------------	---------------------	---------------------------	-----------------

OCP Use Among Women	Frequency	Percent
Yes	19	2.7
No	687	97.3
Total	706	100

Table 5.11	Description of study population by the frequency of vegetable
	consumption

Vegetable Consumption	Frequency	Percent
Daily	1085	94.3
Six times a week	0	0
Five times a week	6	0.5
Four times a week	0	0
Thrice a week	3	0.3
Twice a week	9	0.8
Once a week	44	3.8
Thrice a month	0	0
Twice a month	0	0
Once a month	3	0.3
Less than monthly	1	0.1
Total	1151	100

Most of the study subjects consumed vegetables on a daily basis.
Fruits	Frequency	Percent
Daily	261	22.7
Six times a week	1	0.1
Five times a week	5	0.4
Four times a week	15	1.3
Thrice a week	119	10.3
Twice a week	301	26.2
Once a week	252	21.9
Thrice a month	15	1.3
Twice a month	81	7.0
Once a month	77	6.7
Less than monthly	24	2.1
Total	1151	100

Table 5.12Description of study population by the frequency of fruit
consumption

Fewer people consumed fruits daily (22.7%) than vegetables and 2.1% consumed

fruits less than once a month

Table 5.13 Median Intake of Fruits and Vegetables.

Intake per Month	Median (IQR) in Days
Vegetable	30 (0)
Fruits	8 (8)

More than 50% of the people consumed fruits at least twice a week.

Description of Study Population based on Physical Characteristics such as Height,

Weight and BMI



Fig 5.3 Height distribution among the study population

N =1151

Fig 5.4 Weight distribution among the study population



N=1151

 Table 5.14
 Physical Characteristics of the study population

Characteristics	Height	Weight	BMI
Mean (STD DEV)	157.38 (0.276)	61.18 (14.11)	24.72 (5.20)
Median (IQR)	157 (13)	60 (17)	24.39 (6.79)
Minimum	131	31	12.98
Maximum	186	151	56.14

BMI (WHO Asia-Pacific)	Frequency	Percent
Underweight (<18.5)	119	10.3
Normal (18.50-22.99)	328	28.5
Overweight (23.00-24.99)	193	16.8
Obese (>25.00)	511	44.4
Total	1151	100

 Table 5.15
 Description of the Study Population based on the Body Mass Index

A large proportion - 44.4% of the study population fall under the obesity range. A further 16.8% were overweight. 10.3% were underweight leaving behind a measly 28.5% of the population in the normal BMI group.

Description of Study Population based on comorbid illnesses:

 Table 5.16
 Prevalence of hypertension in the study population

History of Hypertension	Frequency	Percent
Yes	168	14.6
No	983	85.4
Total	1151	100

14.6% of our study population were known cases of hypertension.

Table 5.17Prevalence of diabetes mellitus in the study population

History of Diabetes Mellitus	Frequency	Percent
Yes	141	12.3
No	1010	87.7
Total	1151	100

The proportion of people with a history of Diabetes in our study population is 12.3%.

Table 5.18Duration of comorbid illnesses

Duration of illness in months among those previously diagnosed (by history)	Median (IQR)
Hypertension	36 (66)
Diabetes	48 (83)

The median history of the duration of hypertension was 36 months (3 years) and diabetes mellitus was 48 months (4 years).

 Table 5.19
 History of Ischaemic Heart Disease in the study population

Ischaemic Heart Disease	Frequency	Percent
Yes	15	1.3
No	1136	98.7
Total	1151	100

1.3% of the population have given a history of Coronary Artery Disease (CAD

Table 5.20 History of Stroke in the Study Population

Frequency	Percent
11	1
1140	99
1151	100
	Frequency 11 1140 1151

11 people (1%) of the study population have had a documented history of stroke in the past.

Claudication Pain	Frequency	Percent
Yes	44	3.8
No	1107	96.2
Total	1151	100

Table 5.21 Prevalence of Intermittent Claudication

Prevalence of intermittent claudication in the study population was 3.8%.

 Table 5.22 Prevalence of Chronic Venous Disorders (CVD)

Venous Disease	Frequency	Percent
Telangiectasia	24	2.1
Varicose veins	52	4.5
Ankle oedema	4	0.3
Lipodermatosclerosis	3	0.3
Healed ulcer	0	0
Active ulcer	0	0
No disease	1068	92.8
Total	1151	100

Chronic Venous Disease (CVD) was seen in 7.2% (95% CI 5.7%-8.8%) of the study population

Prevalence of Abnormal ABI in the Study Population

ABI	Frequency	Percent
<0.9	3	0.3
0.9-1.3	1128	98.0
>1.3	20	1.7
Total	1151	100

 Table 5.23
 Prevalence of Peripheral Arterial Disease (PAD)

The Prevalence of Abnormal ABI in the study population has been estimated at 2% (95% CI 1.3%-3%). In a much smaller study done elsewhere, the prevalence of Abnormal ABI in normal individuals was 4%(157).

ABI was also analysed as a continuous variable. It was a skewed distribution.

Mean (Std. dev) = 1.07 (0.12)

Median (IQR) = 1.06 (0.13)

Minimum = 0.85

Maximum = 2.42



Fig 5.5 Distribution of ABI among the study population.

Table 5.24 ABI by Age Groups

Age Distribution		AB	Total	
(Yea	rs)	Abnormal	Normal	Total
-20	Frequency	3	215	218
<30	%	1.4 %	98.6 %	100.0 %
20.20	Frequency	2	218	220
30-39	%	0.9 %	99.1 %	100.0 %
40.40	Frequency	1	225	226
40-49	%	0.4 %	99.6 %	100.0 %
	Frequency	4	203	207
50-59	%	1.9 %	98.1 %	100.0 %
(0, (0	Frequency	7	168	175
00-09	%	4.0 %	96.0 %	100.0 %
70.70	Frequency	5	75	80
/0-/9	%	6.3 %	93.8 %	100.0 %
>00	Frequency	1	24	25
<u>~</u> 80	%	4.0 %	96.0 %	100.0 %
Total	Frequency	23	1128	1151
Total	%	2.0 %	98.0 %	100.0 %

There was a gradual increase in the number of cases in the older population groups. Age group 70-79 contained the maximum proportion of people with probable PAD.

Socio-economic status V PAD:

Middle SES was taken as the reference and each class of SES was cross-tabulated along with the Middle SES against PAD to look for any association. None of the groups had a significant association. There was no consistent pattern of increase or decrease in effect between the groups either.

SES (BG PRASAD JAN '18)		AI	BI	OR		
		Abnormal	Normal	(95% CI)	P value	
Tomor	Frequency	4	220	0.65	0.497	
Lower	%	1.8%	98.2%	(0.19-2.19)	0.487	
Lower	Frequency	6	392	0.55	0.045	
Middle	%	1.5%	98.5%	(0.19-1.60)	0.203	
	Frequency	8	287	1.00	1 000	
Mildale	%	2.7%	97.3%	1.00	1.000	
Upper	Frequency	3	154	0.70	0.601	
Middle	%	1.9%	98.1%	(0.18-2.67)	0.001	
T I	Frequency	2	75	0.96	0.07.6	
Upper	%	2.6%	97.4%	(0.20-4.60)	0.936	
Tatal	Frequency	23	1128			
Total	%	2.0%	98.0%			

 Table 5.25 ABI by Socio Economic Status

Nutritional Status, as understood by calculating the Body Mass Index (BMI), was cross-tabulated against PAD using Normal BMI as the reference. As has been already discussed, the WHO Asia-Pacific classification of BMI has been used to classify the study population. No significant association has been found. However, both undernutrition and overweight/obesity are identified as risk factors.

Nutritional Status		AB	I	OR	D voluo
		Abnormal	Normal	(95% CI)	i value
TI.J	Frequency	3	116	2.10	0 227
Underweight	%	2.5%	97.5%	(0.46 - 9.50)	0.327
Normal	Frequency	4	324	1.00	1 000
	%	1.2%	98.8%	1.00	1.000
Overweight	Frequency	6	187	2.60	0.142
Overweight	%	3.1%	96.9%	(0.72-9.33)	0.145
Ohaga	Frequency	10	501	1.62	0.420
Obese	%	2.0%	98.0%	(0.50-5.20)	0.420
Total	Frequency	23	1128		
Total	%	2.0%	98.0%		

 Table 5.26 ABI by Nutritional Status

Consumption of Alcohol in the past has been found to be significantly associated with an abnormal ABI. People who have consumed alcohol in the past were found to have 5.66 times the risk of having an Abnormal ABI than someone who has never consumed alcohol.

Alcohol Intake		ABI		OR	D voluo	
		Abnormal	Normal	(95% CI)	1 value	
Cumunt	Frequency	4	195	1.22	0.729	
Current	%	2.0%	98.0%	(0.40-3.71)	0.728	
D	Frequency	4	42	5.66	0.001	
Past	%	8.7%	91.3%	(1.80 – 17.79)	0.001	
Never	Frequency	15	891	1.00	1.000	
Never	%	1.7%	98.3%	1.00	1.000	
Total	Frequency	23	1128			
	%	2.0%	98.0%			

Table 5.27ABI by Alcohol Intake

Similarly, a past history of smoking tobacco confers a risk of 4.74 times than that of a non-smoker.

Table 5.28ABI by Smoking

Smoking		ABI		OR	Devalues	
		Abnormal	Normal	(95% CI)	i value	
Cumont	Frequency	3	91	2.03	0.259	
Current	%	3.2%	96.8%	(0.58-7.10)	0.238	
Deat	Frequency	4	52	4.74	0.003	
rast	%	7.1%	92.9%	(1.53-14.67)	0.003	
Norvon	Frequency	16	985	1.00	1.000	
Inever	%	1.6%	98.4%	1.00	1.000	
Tatal	Frequency	23	1128			
Iotal	%	2.0%	98.0%			

Factors	Abnormal ABI	Normal ABI	Odds Ratio (95% CI)	P Value
Sex			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·
Male	16 (3.7%)	429 (96.3%)	3.72	0.002
Female	7 (1.0%)	699 (99%)	(1.52-9.13)	0.002
Age				
≥60	13 (4.6%)	267 (95.4%)	4.19	0.001
<60	10 (1.1%)	861 (98.9%)	(1.82-9.67)	<0.001
Smoking				
Ever	7 (4.9%)	143 (95.1%)	3.01	0.012
Never	16 (1.6%)	985 (98.4%)	(1.219-7.45)	0.012
Diabetes				•
Yes	7 (5.2%)	134 (94.8%)	3.25	0.007
No	16 (1.6%)	994 (98.4%)	(1.31-8.03)	0.007
Hypertension				
Yes	7 (4.3%)	161 (95.7%)	2.63	0.03
No	16 (1.7%)	967 (98.3%)	(1.06-6.49)	0.05
Fruit Intake				
Less Than Daily	18 (2.0%)	872 (98.0%)	1.06	0.014
Daily	5 (1.9%)	688 (98.1%)	(0.39-2.88)	0.914
Vegetable Intake				
Less Than Daily	2 (3.0%)	64 (97.0%)	1.58	0.527
Daily	21 (1.9%)	1064 (98.1%)	(0.36-6.90)	0.557
Alcohol				
Ever	8 (3.4%)	237 (96.6%)	2.01	0.110
Never	15 (1.7%)	891 (98.3%)	(0.84-4.77)	0.110

Table 5.29 BIVARIATE ANALYSIS FOR PAD

Sex, Age, history of Diabetes, Hypertension and ever smoking were found to be significant risk factors for peripheral arterial disease in bivariate analysis.

Alcohol among men		ABI		Total	Odds Ratio	D value
		Abnormal	Normal	Total	(95% CI)	1 value
Even	Frequency	8	237	245		
Ever	%	3.3%	96.7%	100.0%		
Novon	Frequency	8	192	200	0.81	0.69
Never	%	4.0%	96.0%	100.0%	(0.30-2.20)	0.68
Total	Frequency	16	429	445		
		3.6%	96.4%	100.0%		

 Table 5. 30 ABI by Alcohol consumption among men

Exposure	ABI	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Mean Difference (95%CI)	P value
A = -	Abnormal	23	56.3	16.7	10.5	0.002
Age	Normal	1128	45.8	16.3	(3.8-17.2)	
Dools woons	Abnormal	7	8.4	8.6	-1.2	0.831
rack years	Normal	143	9.6	14.1	(-11.8-9.5)	
	Abnormal	23	156.1	8.9	-1.3	0.518
neight	Normal	1128	157.4	9.4	(-5.1-2.6)	
Weight	Abnormal	23	60.1	13.6	-1.2	0.693
weight	Normal	1128	61.30	14.1	(-7.0-4.7)	
DM	Abnormal	7	99.7	97.9	35.7	0 275
duration	Normal	134	64.0	61.4	(-54.8-126.3)	0.375
HTN	Abnormal	7	71.3	76.4	12.2	0.500
duration	Normal	161	59.1	58.9	(-33.3-57.6)	0.398

Table 5.31 COMPARISON OF MEANS WITH PAD PATIENTS (Part I)

People with an abnormal ABI were found to have a significantly higher mean age than people with normal ABI.

Exposure	ABI	N	Mean	SD	Mean Difference (95% CI)	P Value
	Abnormal	23	1.0	0.2	0.0	0.016
Creatinine	Normal	23	1.0	0.2	(-0.1-0.1)	0.916
	Abnormal	23	6.5	1.4	-0.2	0.661
HbAlc	Normal	23	6.7	1.5	(-1.0-0.7)	0.661
Total Cholesterol	Abnormal	23	159.0	22.9	-23.2	0.054
	Normal	23	182.2	50.6	(-46.9-0.4)	0.054
	Abnormal	23	149.9	80.4	-51.0	0.005
1 rigiycerides	Normal	23	200.9	118.4	(-111.1-9.2)	0.095
IIDI	Abnormal	23	49.7	9.5	0.4	0.966
HDL	Normal	23	49.3	9.6	(-5.2-6.2)	0.866
LDI	Abnormal	23	97.5	29.5	-19.9	0.042
LDL	Normal	23	117.4	34.8	(-39.00.7)	0.043
II	Abnormal	23	12.7	2.8	0.0	0.059
Haemoglobin	Normal	23	12.7	2.2	(-1.5-1.5)	0.958

Table 5.32 COMPARISON OF MEANS WITH PAD PATIENTS (Part II)

LDL has been found to be significantly lesser in patients with abnormal ABI. Similar findings have not been seen in any previous study.

Variable	Abnormal ABI	Normal ABI	Unadjusted OR (95%CI)	P value	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	P value
Sex						
Male	16 (3.7%)	429 (96.3%)	3.72	0.002	3.28	0.021
Female	7 (1.0%)	699 (99.0%)	(1.52-9.13)	0.002	(1.20-8.97)	0.021
Diabetes						
Yes	7 (5.2%)	134 (94.8%)	3.25	0.007	2.23	0.129
No	16 (1.6%)	994 (98.4%)	(1.31-8.03)		(0.77-6.42)	0.138
Hyperten	sion					
Yes	7 (4.3%)	161 (95.7%)	2.63	0.03	1.14	0.010
No	16 (1.7%)	967 (98.3%)	(1.06-6.49)		(0.38-3.37)	0.818
Smoking						
Yes	7 (4.9%)	143 (95.1%)	3.01	0.012	1.27	0.651
No	16 (1.6%)	985 (98.4%)	(1.22-7.45)	0.012	(0.45-3.54)	0.051
Age						
≥60	13 (4.6%)	267 (95.4%)	4.19	<0.001	3.11	0.015
<60	10 (1.1%)	861 (98.9%)	(1.82-9.67)	<0.001	(1.25-7.72)	0.015

Table 5.33 LOGISTIC REGRESSION ANALYSIS FOR PAD

Multiple logistic regression analysis was carried out for all variables which were significant in the bivariate analysis. Age and Sex continued to be strongly associated with abnormal ABI, however Diabetes, Smoking and Hypertension were no longer found to be significantly associated with abnormal ABI values.

		Chronic Ver	Chronic Venous Disorder				
	Age		No	Total			
-20	Frequency	11	207	218			
<30	%	5.0%	95.0%	100.0%			
20.20	Frequency	11	209	220			
30-39	%	5.0%	95.0%	100.0%			
40.40	Frequency	14	212	226			
40-49	%	6.2%	93.8%	100.0%			
50.50	Frequency	22	185	207			
50-59	%	10.6%	89.4%	100.0%			
(0, (0	Frequency	19	156	175			
60-69	%	10.9%	89.1%	100.0%			
50.50	Frequency	5	75	80			
70-79	%	6.3%	93.8%	100.0%			
> 00	Frequency	1	24	25			
<u> 280</u>	%	4.0%	96.0%	100.0%			
Tatal	Frequency	83	1068	1151			
Iotai	%	7.2%	92.8%	100.0%			

Table 5.34 Chronic Venous Disorder (CVD) by Age group

There is an equal distribution of people with Venous Disorders in each group.

SES analysis:

Association between CVD and SES was assessed. The Middle SES group was used as the reference and odds ratio was calculated.

SES		CV	CVD		Р
		Yes	No	(95% CI)	Value
Ŧ	Frequency	15	209	0.89	0.720
Lower	%	6.7%	93.3%	(0.45-1.76)	0.739
Lower	Frequency	27	371	0.90	0.722
Middle	%	6.8%	93.2%	(0.50-1.62)	0.732
	Frequency	22	273	1.00	1.000
Midale	%	7.5%	92.5%	1.00	
Upper	Frequency	11	146	0.93	0.961
Middle	%	7.0%	93.0%	(0.44-1.98)	0.861
There are	Frequency	8	69	1.44	0.402
Upper	%	10.4%	89.6%	(0.61-3.37)	0.402
Total	Frequency	83	1068		
	%	7.2%	92.8%		

Table 5.35 Chronic Venous Disorder by SES

The middle SES group was taken as the reference point and the association was analysed. There was no association found between the different SES groups.

Nutritional Status		AB	I	OR	P value
		Abnormal	Normal	(95% CI)	
Underweight	Frequency	3	116	0.40	0.130
	%	2.5%	97.5%	(0.12-1.37)	
Normal	Frequency	20	308	1.00	1.000
	%	6.1%	93.9%	1.00	
Overweight	Frequency	11	182	0.93	0.853
	%	5.7%	94.3%	(0.44-1.99)	
Obese	Frequency	49	462	1.63	0.075
	%	9.6%	90.4%	(0.95-2.80)	
Total	Frequency	83	1068		
	%	7.2%	92.8%		

Table 5.36 Chronic Venous Disorder by Nutritional Status

Obese individuals were found to be at a higher risk of developing chronic venous

disease. However, the association was not statistically significant.

Factors	CVD	No CVD	Odds Ratio (95% CI)	P Value		
Sex						
Male	40 (9.0%)	405 (91.0%)	1.52	0.064		
Female	43 (6.1%)	663 (93.9%)	(0.97-2.38)	0.004		
Age						
≥60	25 (8.9%)	255 (91.1%)	1.37	0.202		
<60	58 (6.7%)	813 (93.3%)	(0.84-2.24)	0.202		
Parity						
0 And 1	1 (0.7%)	150 (99.3%)	0.08	0.002		
>1	42 (7.6%)	513 (92.4%)	(0.01-0.60)	0.002		
Smoking						
Ever	14 (9.3%)	136 (90.7%)	1.39	0.281		
Never	69 (6.9%)	932 (93.1%)	(0.76-2.54)	0.281		
Diabetes						
Yes	13 (9.2%)	128 (90.8%)	1.36	0.225		
No	70 (6.9%)	940 (93.1%)	(0.73-2.54)	0.323		
Hypertension						
Yes	16 (9.5%)	152 (90.5%)	1.44	0.210		
No	6.8 (67%)	916 (93.2%)	(0.81-2.55)	0.210		
Frequency of Fruit Intake						
Less Than Daily	53 (6.0%)	837 (94.0%)	0.49	0.002		
Daily	30 (11.5%)	231 (88.5%)	(0.30-0.78)	0.002		
CAD						
Yes	1 (6.7%)	14 (93.3%)	0.92	0.025		
No	82 (7.2%)	1054 (92.8%)	(0.12 – 7.07)	0.955		
Frequency of Vegetable Intake						
Less Than Daily	6 (9.1%)	60 (90.9%)	1.31	0 5 4 3		
Daily	77 (7.1%)	1008 (92.9%)	(0.55-3.13)	0.345		
Alcohol						
Ever	23 (9.4%)	222 (90.6%)	1.46	0.138		
Never	60 (6.6%)	846 (93.4%)	(0.88-2.42)			

Table 5.37 BIVARIATE ANALYSIS FOR CHRONIC VENOUS DISORDER

	CVD	Ν	Mean (Std. dev)	MEAN DIFFERENCE (95% CI)	P VALUE
ARI	Yes	83	1.09 (0.10)	0.03	0.036
	No	1068	1.07 (0.12)	(0.00-0.05)	
	Yes	83	159.8 (9.3)	2.6	0.016
Height	No	1068	157.2 (9.3)	(0.5-4.7)	
Wataba	Yes	83	66.9 (14.3)	6.0	<0.001
Weight	No	1068	60.9 (14.0)	(2.9-9.2)	
BMI	Yes	83	26.20 (5.13)	1.60	0.007
	No	1068	24.60 (5.19)	(0.44-2.76)	
Pack Years	Yes	14	8.6 (8.7)	-1.0	0.788
	No	136	9.6 (14.3)	(-8.8-6.6)	
	Yes	Yes 14 13 (10		-3.1	0 /29
	No	136	16.5 (14.1)	(-10.8-4.7)	0.438
Diabetes Duration	Yes	13	71.5 (57.4)	6.3	0.733
	No	128	65.2 (64.5)	(-30.4-43.1)	
Hypertension Duration	Yes	16	46.7 (46.2)	-14.3	0.260
	No	No 152 61.0 (60.7)		(-45.2-16.6)	0.302
	Yes	83	49.4 (15.0)	3.6	0.050
Age	No	1068	45.8 (16.4)	(-0.002-7.303)	

Table 5.38 COMPARISON OF MEANS WITH CVD PATIENTS

Comparison of means revealed that the mean ABI was significantly higher among patients with CVD. Patients with CVD were also found to be 2 cm taller on an average. However, the strongest association was found between weight and CVD. A patient with CVD averaged 6 kg more than a normal person.

Factors	CVD	No CVD	Unadjusted OR (95% CI)	P value	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	P value
Parity						
0 and 1	1 (0.7%)	150 (99.3%)	0.08	0.002	0.07 (0.01-0.53)	0.010
>1	42 (7.6%)	513 (92.4%)	(0.01-0.60)			
Frequency of Fruit Intake						
Less Than Daily	53 (6.0%)	837 (94.0%)	0.49	0.002	0.26 (0.14-0.49)	-0.001
Daily	30 (11.5%)	231 (88.5%)	(0.30-0.78)			<0.001

 Table 5.39 LOGISTIC REGRESSION ANALYSIS FOR CVD

Multiple Logistic Regression analysis was done which reiterated earlier findings.

Increased frequency of fruit intake and multiparity were found to be significant risk factors.

6. DISCUSSION

The majority of the study population were women, followed Hinduism and literate. We can decipher that 36.9% have studied till primary school and unsurprisingly 27.2% are illiterate with 6.1% people knowing how to read alone. This amounts to only two-thirds of the study participants knowing how to read and write which is consistent with the rural literacy rate in Tamil Nadu of 73.54% (158).

33.7% of the men had ever smoked and 55.1% of the men had ever consumed alcohol. This was a less than the prevalence of current smoking (37.6%) and alcohol consumption (62.4%) estimated among men in a study done in a rural area in Kanchipuram district of Tamil Nadu (159).

The mean height of the study population was approximately 157 cm and the mean weight was 61 kg. The Mean BMI of the participants was 24.72 kg/m². This is very similar to findings in another study done in another rural area in Villupuram, Tamil Nadu which showed a mean BMI of 24.5 kg/m² (160).

The prevalence of overweight individuals in this study is similar to study findings done in Tamil Nadu in 2015 (161) which showed a prevalence of 15.2% of people with a BMI between 23.00-24.99 kg/m². Another study estimated a prevalence of 39.64% people with a BMI above 25 in rural Tamil Nadu (162) which is similar to our study numbers (44.4%).

14.6% of our study population were on medications for hypertension. A study done in rural Tamil Nadu showed a prevalence of 21.4% (163).

84

The proportion of people on medications for diabetes mellitus in our study population was 12.3%. This is similar to the estimated prevalence of 10.4% in another large-scale cross-sectional study (164)

15 people (1.3%) have had pre-existing Coronary Artery Disease (CAD). A study on the prevalence of CHD among a similar population showed the prevalence of preexisting CAD as 0.6% (165).

1% of the total study population had suffered a stroke in their lifetime. In another study done in a rural area of Tamil Nadu, the prevalence of CVA confirmed by CT/MRI findings was 1.3 per 1000 population (166).

Prevalence of intermittent claudication in the study population was 3.8%. A previous study was done in rural Vellore using the Rose questionnaire which estimated a prevalence of classical claudication at 3.8% (167).

Chronic Venous Disorder (CVD) was seen in 7.2% (95%CI 5.7%-8.8%) of the study population. As has already been mentioned, it has been extrapolated that 15%-20% of our population have Chronic Venous Disorders (19).

The Prevalence of Abnormal ABI in the study population has been estimated at 2% (95% CI 1.3%-3%). Other studies have shown the prevalence of PAD to be between 3 % to 7%. (155, 157).

Arterial Disease:

As previously discussed, the NHANES study(41) has shown the following prevalence of PAD in each age group,

Age Group	NHANES study(41)	Present Study
> 80 years	23.2%	4.0%
> 70 years	14.5%	6.1%
60 - 69 years	4.7%	4.0%
50 - 59 years	2.5%	1.9%
40 - 49 years	0.9%	0.4%
30-39 years	N/A	0.9%
<30 years	N/A	1.4%

Table 6.1 NHANES study vs Present Study with regards to age distribution

Increasing age has thus been found to be a significant risk factor for peripheral arterial disease in this study with an adjusted Odds Ratio of 3.11 (1.25-7.72).

In this study, the prevalence of PAD in men above 18 years of age was 3.7% and among women in the same age group was 1.0%. Though in dissimilar populations (age >65) it is similar to findings in others studies that have been mentioned above(54).

In bivariate analysis, a history of Diabetes Mellitus was found to be significantly associated with PAD (OR 3.25, 95%CI 1.31-8.03). However, while accounting for

age, sex, smoking and hypertension in logistic regression, the association was found to be not significant (adj OR 2.23, 95% CI 0.77-6.42).

Similarly, hypertension was found to be significantly associated with PAD (OR2.63, 95% CI 1.06-6.49) in bivariate analysis but was not significant in logistic regression (adj OR 1.14, 95% CI 0.38-3.37).

Another variable which was a significant risk factor in bivariate analysis but not significant after regression analysis was smoking (OR 3.01[1.22-7.45] vs adj OR 1.27[0.45-3.54]).

This shows that age and sex were the predominant risk factors and acted as confounders during bivariate analysis.

The mean age in the abnormal ABI group was significantly higher (10.5, 95% CI 3.8-17.2) than in the normal ABI group.

LDL has been found to be significantly lesser in patients with abnormal ABI (-19.9, 95% CI -39.0 to -0.7). Similar findings have not been reported in any previous study.

There were no significant differences in any of the other blood investigations.

Venous Disease:

Multigravida women were found to be at a higher risk of developing chronic venous disorders than nulliparous women and women who have had only one delivery in the

past. Women with lesser parity were 92% (OR 0.08, 95%CI 0.01-0.60) less likely to develop venous disease as opposed to women with parity >1.

Though the association between obesity and chronic venous disease was not significant, the mean BMI was significantly higher in the CVD group (Mean Difference 1.60 kg/m², 95% CI 0.44-2.76).

The CVD group were also significantly taller (Mean Difference 2.6 cm, 95%CI 0.5-4.7) and remarkably heavier (Mean Difference 6.0kg, 95% CI 2.9-9.2) than their counterparts.

The Ankle Brachial Index (ABI) was also found to be minimally but significantly higher (0.03, 95% CI 0.00-0.05) in the CVD group.

7. LIMITATIONS

Toe-Brachial Index (TBI) would have been the ideal tool to diagnose PAD. This is because ABI values >1.30 must be confirmed by TBI for diagnosis of PAD. However, due to practical constraints it could not be done.

8. CONCLUSIONS

- The prevalence of Peripheral Arterial Disease in Kaniyambadi block was 2% (95% CI: 1.3%-3%).
- The prevalence of Chronic Venous disorders in Kaniyambadi block was found to be 7.2% (95% CI: 5.7%-8.8%).
- Peripheral Arterial disease was significantly associated with increased age (>60 years) and male gender.
- Chronic Venous Disorders were significantly associated with increased parity.
- The mean height, weight and BMI were all significantly higher among people with Chronic Venous Disorders.

9. RECOMMENDATIONS

- Routine Ankle Brachial Index should be done in men above the age of 60 years to screen for Peripheral Arterial Disease.
- Ankle Brachial Index may also be useful to screen for Peripheral Arterial Disease among diabetics and hypertensives.
- Lifestyle modification in the community may be essential to bring down the high proportion of obese people.
- A dwindle in number of people with overweight and obesity may decrease the prevalence of chronic venous disorders.
- Early screening and intervention at the community level may help in avoiding the natural progress of both PAD and CVD thereby improving quality of life and reducing morbidity and mortality.

10. BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Peripheral Vascular Disease [Internet]. [cited 2018 Aug 5]. Available from: https://www.cardiosmart.org/Heart-Conditions/Peripheral-Vascular-Disease
- 2012 ACCF/AHA/ACR/SCAI/SIR/STS/SVM/SVN/SVS Key Data Elements and Definitions for Peripheral Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease: A Report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Data Standards (Writing Committee to Develop Clinical Data Standards for Peripheral Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease) - ScienceDirect [Internet]. [cited 2018 Aug 5]. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0735109711047322?via%3Dihub
- 3. Khan TH, Farooqui FA, Niazi K. Critical Review of the Ankle Brachial Index. Curr Cardiol Rev. 2008 May;4(2):101–6.
- 4. Resnick HE, Lindsay RS, McDermott MM, Devereux RB, Jones KL, Fabsitz RR, et al. Relationship of High and Low Ankle Brachial Index to All-Cause and Cardiovascular Disease Mortality. Circulation [Internet]. 2004 Feb 17 [cited 2018 Oct 16]; Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/abs/10.1161/01.CIR.0000112642.63927.54?url_ver=Z39.88-2003&rfr_id=ori:rid:crossref.org&rfr_dat=cr_pub%3dpubmed
- Courtney M. Townsend Jr. Sabiston's Textbook of Surgery. 19th ed. Vol. 2. Saunder; 2152 p.
- 6. Premalatha G, Shanthirani S, Deepa R, Markovitz J, Mohan V. Prevalence and risk factors of peripheral vascular disease in a selected South Indian population: the Chennai Urban Population Study. Diabetes Care. 2000 Sep;23(9):1295–300.
- Savji N, Rockman CB, Skolnick AH, Guo Y, Adelman MA, Riles T, et al. Association Between Advanced Age and Vascular Disease in Different Arterial Territories: A Population Database of Over 3.6 Million Subjects. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013 Apr 23;61(16):1736–43.
- 8. Clinical and Economic Burden in Patients with Diagnosis of Peripheral Arterial Disease in a Claims Database in Japan. Clin Ther. 2014 Aug 1;36(8):1223-1230.e4.
- Hirsch AT, Hartman L, Town RJ, Virnig BA. National health care costs of peripheral arterial disease in the Medicare population. Vasc Med Lond Engl. 2008 Aug;13(3):209–15.

- Marrett E, DiBonaventura M daCosta, Zhang Q. Burden of peripheral arterial disease in Europe and the United States: a patient survey. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2013 Oct 22;11(1):175.
- 11. Mahoney EM, Wang K, Keo HH, Duval S, Smolderen KG, Cohen DJ, et al. Vascular hospitalization rates and costs in patients with peripheral artery disease in the United States. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2010 Nov;3(6):642–51.
- Bura Riviere A, Bouée S, Laurendeau C, Torreton E, Gourmelen J, Thomas-Delecourt F. Outcomes and management costs of peripheral arterial disease in France. J Vasc Surg. 2018;67(6):1834–43.
- 13. Brostow DP, Petrik ML, Starosta AJ, Waldo SW. Depression in patients with peripheral arterial disease: A systematic review. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs J Work Group Cardiovasc Nurs Eur Soc Cardiol. 2017;16(3):181–93.
- 14. Pratt AG, Norris ER, Kaufmann M. Peripheral vascular disease and depression. J Vasc Nurs Off Publ Soc Peripher Vasc Nurs. 2005 Dec;23(4):123–7; quiz 128–9.
- 15. Rafnsson SB, Deary IJ, Fowkes FGR. Peripheral arterial disease and cognitive function. Vasc Med Lond Engl. 2009 Feb;14(1):51–61.
- Waldstein SR, Tankard CF, Maier KJ, Pelletier JR, Snow J, Gardner AW, et al. Peripheral Arterial Disease and Cognitive Function. Psychosom Med. 2003 Oct;65(5):757.
- Gloviczki P, Comerota AJ, Dalsing MC, Eklof BG, Gillespie DL, Gloviczki ML, et al. The care of patients with varicose veins and associated chronic venous diseases: Clinical practice guidelines of the Society for Vascular Surgery and the American Venous Forum. J Vasc Surg. 2011 May 1;53(5):2S-48S.
- Kistner, R.L. and Eklof, B. Classification and etiology of chronic venous disease. in: P. Gloviczki (Ed.) Handbook of venous disorders: guidelines of the American Venous Forum. London; 2009: 37–46. 3rd ed. Hodder Arnold;
- Varicose Vein Treatment Dr. Pradeep Muley M.D. Senior Consultant Interventional Radiologist [Internet]. [cited 2018 Aug 19]. Available from: http://www.varicoseveintreatment.co.in/infographics.html
- 20. N. S. Williams, C. J. K. Bulstrode and P. R. O'Connell . Boca Raton, FL. Bailey and Love's Short Practice of Surgery. 26th edition. CRC Press; 2013. 1517 pages.
- Raju S, Neglén P. Chronic Venous Insufficiency and Varicose Veins. N Engl J Med. 2009 May 28;360(22):2319–27.

- Rabe E, Pannier-Fischer F, Bromen K, Schuldt K, Stang A, Poncar C, et al. Bonner Venenstudie der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Phlebologie: Epidemiologische Untersuchung zur Frage der Häufigkeit und Ausprägung von chronischen Venenkrankheiten in der städtischen und ländlichen Wohnbevölkerung. Phlebologie. 2003;32(01):1–14.
- McLafferty RB, Passman MA, Caprini JA, Rooke TW, Markwell SA, Lohr JM, et al. Increasing awareness about venous disease: The American Venous Forum expands the National Venous Screening Program. J Vasc Surg. 2008 Aug;48(2):394–9.
- 24. Subfascial Endoscopic Perforator Surgery: New Life for an Old Procedure? [Internet].
 [cited 2018 Sep 5]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3021261/
- 25. Trends in the incidence of venous stasis syndrome and venous ulcer: A 25-year population-based study. J Vasc Surg. 2001 May 1;33(5):1022–7.
- 26. Guest JF, Ayoub N, McIlwraith T, Uchegbu I, Gerrish A, Weidlich D, et al. Health economic burden that wounds impose on the National Health Service in the UK. BMJ Open. 2015 Dec 1;5(12):e009283.
- 27. Green J, Jester R, McKinley R, Pooler A. The impact of chronic venous leg ulcers: a systematic review. J Wound Care. 2014 Dec;23(12):601–12.
- 28. Isaac A, Watson C. How venous leg ulcers affect quality of life: Amy Isaac and Christine Watson explore the psychological and social implications of caring for patients with venous leg ulceration. Prim Health Care. 2016 Mar 30;26(3):18–23.
- 29. Torres SM da SS de O, Araújo R de O e, Costa IKF, Tibúrcio MP, Sousa AJG de, Pergola-Marconato AM, et al. Health-related quality of life in patients with venous leg ulcer treated in primary care in Brazil and Portugal. PLOS ONE. 2018 Apr 24;13(4):e0195990.
- 30. Salomé GM, Blanes L, Ferreira LM. Avaliação de sintomas depressivos em pessoas com úlcera venosa. Rev Bras Cir Plástica. 2012 Mar;27(1):124–9.
- 31. Hiatt WR, Goldstone J, Sidney C. Smith J, McDermott M, Moneta G, Oka R, et al. Atherosclerotic Peripheral Vascular Disease Symposium II. Circulation [Internet].
 2008 Dec 16 [cited 2018 Sep 6]; Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.191171?url_ver= Z39.88-2003&rfr_id=ori%3Arid%3Acrossref.org&rfr_dat=cr_pub%3Dpubmed&
- 32. Fowkes FGR, Rudan D, Rudan I, Aboyans V, Denenberg JO, McDermott MM, et al. Comparison of global estimates of prevalence and risk factors for peripheral artery

disease in 2000 and 2010: a systematic review and analysis. Lancet Lond Engl. 2013 Oct 19;382(9901):1329–40.

- Norgren L, Hiatt WR, Dormandy JA, Nehler MR, Harris KA, Fowkes FGR. Inter-Society Consensus for the Management of Peripheral Arterial Disease (TASC II). J Vasc Surg. 2007 Jan 1;45(1, Supplement):S5–67.
- 34. 1-s2.0-S0741521406022968-gr1.gif (565×310) [Internet]. [cited 2018 Sep 6].
 Available from: https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-S0741521406022968-gr1.gif
- 35. Potier L, Abi Khalil C, Mohammedi K, Roussel R. Use and utility of ankle brachial index in patients with diabetes. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg Off J Eur Soc Vasc Surg. 2011 Jan;41(1):110–6.
- 36. Fernández-Friera L, Peñalvo JL, Fernández-Ortiz A, Ibañez B, López-Melgar B, Laclaustra M, et al. Prevalence, Vascular Distribution, and Multiterritorial Extent of Subclinical Atherosclerosis in a Middle-Aged Cohort: The PESA (Progression of Early Subclinical Atherosclerosis) Study. Circulation. 2015 Jun 16;131(24):2104–13.
- Laclaustra M, Casasnovas JA, Fernández-Ortiz A, Fuster V, León-Latre M, Jiménez-Borreguero LJ, et al. Femoral and Carotid Subclinical Atherosclerosis Association With Risk Factors and Coronary Calcium: The AWHS Study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016 Mar 22;67(11):1263–74.
- DeBakey ME, Glaeser DH. Patterns of atherosclerosis: effect of risk factors on recurrence and survival-analysis of 11,890 cases with more than 25-year follow-up. Am J Cardiol. 2000 May 1;85(9):1045–53.
- al HM et. Age-related differences in the distribution of peripheral atherosclerosis:
 when is atherosclerosis truly premature? PubMed NCBI [Internet]. [cited 2018 Sep 15]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed?term=7482270
- 40. Joosten MM, Pai JK, Bertoia ML, Rimm EB, Spiegelman D, Mittleman MA, et al. Associations between conventional cardiovascular risk factors and risk of peripheral artery disease in men. JAMA. 2012 Oct 24;308(16):1660–7.
- 41. TP SE and E. Prevalence of and risk factors for peripheral arterial disease in the United States: results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Sur... PubMed NCBI [Internet]. [cited 2018 Sep 17]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed?term=15262830
- 42. Ogren M, Hedblad B, Jungquist G, O Isacsson S, E Lindell S, Janzon L. Low anklebrachial pressure index in 68-year-old men: Prevalence, risk factors and prognosis.

Results from prospective population study "Men born in 1914", Malmö, Sweden. Eur J Vasc Surg. 1993 Sep 1;7:500–6.

- 43. Ögren M, Hedblad B, Engström G, Janzon L. Prevalence and Prognostic Significance of Asymptomatic Peripheral Arterial Disease in 68-year-old Men with Diabetes. Results from the Population Study 'Men Born in 1914' from Malmö, Sweden. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2005 Feb 1;29(2):182–9.
- 44. Weatherley BD, Nelson JJ, Heiss G, Chambless LE, Sharrett AR, Nieto FJ, et al. The association of the ankle-brachial index with incident coronary heart disease: the Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities (ARIC) study, 1987–2001. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2007 Jan 16;7:3.
- 45. Davignon J, Lussier-Cacan S, Ortin-George M, Lelièvre M, Bertagna C, Gattereau A, et al. Plasma lipids and lipoprotein patterns in angiographically graded atherosclerosis of the legs and in coronary heart disease. Can Med Assoc J. 1977 Jun 4;116(11):1245–50.
- 46. Murabito JM, D'Agostino RB, Silbershatz H, Wilson WF. Intermittent claudication. A risk profile from The Framingham Heart Study. Circulation. 1997 Jul 1;96(1):44–9.
- 47. Cassar K. Intermittent claudication. BMJ. 2006 Nov 11;333(7576):1002-5.
- Ridker PM, Stampfer MJ, Rifai N. Novel risk factors for systemic atherosclerosis: a comparison of C-reactive protein, fibrinogen, homocysteine, lipoprotein(a), and standard cholesterol screening as predictors of peripheral arterial disease. JAMA. 2001 May 16;285(19):2481–5.
- 49. van den Berg M, Stehouwer CD, Bierdrager E, Rauwerda JA. Plasma homocysteine and severity of atherosclerosis in young patients with lower-limb atherosclerotic disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1996 Jan;16(1):165–71.
- 50. Malinow MR, Bostom AG, Krauss RM. Homocyst(e)ine, Diet, and Cardiovascular Diseases : A Statement for Healthcare Professionals From the Nutrition Committee, American Heart Association. Circulation. 1999 Jan 12;99(1):178–82.
- 51. O'Donnell CJ, Chazaro I, Wilson PWF, Fox C, Hannan MT, Kiel DP, et al. Evidence for heritability of abdominal aortic calcific deposits in the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation. 2002 Jul 16;106(3):337–41.
- 52. Duggirala R, González Villalpando C, O'Leary DH, Stern MP, Blangero J. Genetic basis of variation in carotid artery wall thickness. Stroke. 1996 May;27(5):833–7.
- 53. Xiang AH, Azen SP, Buchanan TA, Raffel LJ, Tan S, Cheng LS-C, et al. Heritability of Subclinical Atherosclerosis in Latino Families Ascertained Through a Hypertensive
Parent. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol [Internet]. 2002 May 1 [cited 2018 Sep 21]; Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/abs/10.1161/01.atv.0000015329.15481.e8

- 54. Diehm C, Schuster A, Allenberg JR, Darius H, Haberl R, Lange S, et al. High prevalence of peripheral arterial disease and co-morbidity in 6880 primary care patients: cross-sectional study. Atherosclerosis. 2004 Jan 1;172(1):95–105.
- 55. Structural and functional alteration of blood vessels caused by cigarette smoking: an overview of molecular mechanisms. PubMed NCBI [Internet]. [cited 2018 Sep 23]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed?term=17979794
- 56. Nicotine and its metabolite cotinine are mitogenic for human vascular smooth muscle cells. PubMed NCBI [Internet]. [cited 2018 Sep 23]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed?term=9129624
- 57. Leone A. Smoking, haemostatic factors, and cardiovascular risk. Curr Pharm Des. 2007;13(16):1661–7.
- 58. Chelland Campbell S, Moffatt RJ, Stamford BA. Smoking and smoking cessation -the relationship between cardiovascular disease and lipoprotein metabolism: a review. Atherosclerosis. 2008 Dec;201(2):225–35.
- Narkiewicz K, van de Borne PJ, Hausberg M, Cooley RL, Winniford MD, Davison DE, et al. Cigarette smoking increases sympathetic outflow in humans. Circulation. 1998 Aug 11;98(6):528–34.
- 60. Jude EB, Oyibo SO, Chalmers N, Boulton AJ. Peripheral arterial disease in diabetic and nondiabetic patients: a comparison of severity and outcome. Diabetes Care. 2001 Aug;24(8):1433–7.
- 61. Bundó M, Muñoz L, Pérez C, Montero JJ, Montellà N, Torán P, et al. Asymptomatic peripheral arterial disease in type 2 diabetes patients: a 10-year follow-up study of the utility of the ankle brachial index as a prognostic marker of cardiovascular disease. Ann Vasc Surg. 2010 Nov;24(8):985–93.
- Leibson CL, Ransom JE, Olson W, Zimmerman BR, O'Fallon WM, Palumbo PJ. Peripheral Arterial Disease, Diabetes, and Mortality. Diabetes Care. 2004 Dec 1;27(12):2843–9.
- 63. Selvin E, Marinopoulos S, Berkenblit G, Rami T, Brancati FL, Powe NR, et al. Metaanalysis: glycosylated hemoglobin and cardiovascular disease in diabetes mellitus. Ann Intern Med. 2004 Sep 21;141(6):421–31.

- 64. Mellière D, Berrahal D, Desgranges P, Allaire E, Becquemin JP, Perlemuter L, et al. Influence of diabetes on revascularisation procedures of the aorta and lower limb arteries: early results. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg Off J Eur Soc Vasc Surg. 1999 May;17(5):438–41.
- 65. Yang S, Wang S, Yang B, Zheng J, Cai Y, Yang Z. Alcohol Consumption Is a Risk Factor for Lower Extremity Arterial Disease in Chinese Patients with T2DM. J Diabetes Res. 2017;2017:8756978.
- 66. Anchala R, Kannuri NK, Pant H, Khan H, Franco OH, Di Angelantonio E, et al. Hypertension in India: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prevalence, awareness, and control of hypertension. J Hypertens. 2014 Jun;32(6):1170–7.
- 67. Krishnan MN, Geevar Z, Mohanan PP, Venugopal K, Devika S. Prevalence of peripheral artery disease and risk factors in the elderly: a community based crosssectional study from northern Kerala, India. Indian Heart J [Internet]. 2017 Nov 4 [cited 2018 Sep 27]; Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0019483217305126
- 68. Kannel WB, McGee DL. Update on some epidemiologic features of intermittent claudication: the Framingham Study. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1985 Jan;33(1):13–8.
- Selvin E, Hirsch AT. Contemporary risk factor control and walking dysfunction in individuals with peripheral arterial disease: NHANES 1999-2004. Atherosclerosis. 2008 Dec;201(2):425–33.
- Ostchega Y, Paulose-Ram R, Dillon CF, Gu Q, Hughes JP. Prevalence of peripheral arterial disease and risk factors in persons aged 60 and older: data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999-2004. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2007 Apr;55(4):583–9.
- 71. Rapsomaniki E, Timmis A, George J, Pujades-Rodriguez M, Shah AD, Denaxas S, et al. Blood pressure and incidence of twelve cardiovascular diseases: lifetime risks, healthy life-years lost, and age-specific associations in 1.25 million people. The Lancet. 2014 May 31;383(9932):1899–911.
- Emdin CA, Anderson SG, Callender T, Conrad N, Salimi-Khorshidi G, Mohseni H, et al. Usual blood pressure, peripheral arterial disease, and vascular risk: cohort study of 4.2 million adults. BMJ. 2015 Sep 29;351:h4865.
- Vitale E, Zuliani G, Baroni L, Bicego L, Grego F, Valerio G, et al. Lipoprotein abnormalities in patients with extra-coronary arteriosclerosis. Atherosclerosis. 1990 Mar;81(2):95–102.

- 74. Bradby GV, Valente AJ, Walton KW. Serum high-density lipoproteins in peripheral vascular disease. Lancet Lond Engl. 1978 Dec 16;2(8103):1271–4.
- 75. Cantin B, Moorjani S, Dagenais GR, Lupien P-J. Lipoprotein(a) distribution in a French Canadian population and its relation to intermittent claudication (The Que bec Cardiovascular Study). Am J Cardiol. 1995 Jun 15;75(17):1224–8.
- 76. Valentine RJ, Grayburn PA, Vega GL, Grundy SM. Lp(a) lipoprotein is an independent, discriminating risk factor for premature peripheral atherosclerosis among white men. Arch Intern Med. 1994 Apr 11;154(7):801–6.
- ACC/AHA 2005 Practice Guidelines for the Management of Patients With Peripheral Arterial Disease (Lower Extremity, Renal, Mesenteric, and Abdominal Aortic). Circulation. 2006 Mar 21;113(11):e463–5.
- 78. Clinical features and diagnosis of lower extremity peripheral artery disease -UpToDate [Internet]. [cited 2018 Sep 30]. Available from: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/clinical-features-and-diagnosis-of-lowerextremity-peripheral-artery-disease?topicRef=15210&source=see_link
- 79. Gardner AW, Afaq A. MANAGEMENT OF LOWER EXTREMITY PERIPHERAL ARTERIAL DISEASE. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2008;28(6):349–57.
- 80. McDermott MM, Greenland P, Liu K, Guralnik JM, Criqui MH, Dolan NC, et al. Leg symptoms in peripheral arterial disease: associated clinical characteristics and functional impairment. JAMA. 2001 Oct 3;286(13):1599–606.
- Hirsch AT, Criqui MH, Treat-Jacobson D, Regensteiner JG, Creager MA, Olin JW, et al. Peripheral arterial disease detection, awareness, and treatment in primary care. JAMA. 2001 Sep 19;286(11):1317–24.
- 82. Rooke TW, Hirsch AT, Misra S, Sidawy AN, Beckman JA, Findeiss L, et al. Management of patients with peripheral artery disease (compilation of 2005 and 2011 ACCF/AHA Guideline Recommendations): a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013 Apr 9;61(14):1555–70.
- 83. Hirsch AT, Haskal ZJ, Hertzer NR, Bakal CW, Creager MA, Halperin JL, et al. ACC/AHA 2005 Practice Guidelines for the management of patients with peripheral arterial disease (lower extremity, renal, mesenteric, and abdominal aortic): a collaborative report from the American Association for Vascular Surgery/Society for Vascular Surgery, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society for Vascular Medicine and Biology, Society of Interventional Radiology, and the ACC/AHA Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Develop

Guidelines for the Management of Patients With Peripheral Arterial Disease): endorsed by the American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; Society for Vascular Nursing; TransAtlantic Inter-Society Consensus; and Vascular Disease Foundation. Circulation. 2006 Mar 21;113(11):e463-654.

- 84. Frederick M, Newman J, Kohlwes J. Leriche Syndrome. J Gen Intern Med. 2010 Oct;25(10):1102.
- 85. Cranley JJ. Ischemic Rest Pain. Arch Surg. 1969 Feb 1;98(2):187–8.
- 86. Pecoraro RE, Reiber GE, Burgess EM. Pathways to Diabetic Limb Amputation: Basis for Prevention. Diabetes Care. 1990 May 1;13(5):513–21.
- 87. Lend GC, Fowkes FGR. The Edinburgh Claudication Questionnaire: An improved version of the WHO/Rose questionnaire for use in epidemiological surveys. J Clin Epidemiol. 1992 Oct 1;45(10):1101–9.
- 88. Insall RL, Davies RJ, Prout WG. Significance of Buerger's test in the assessment of lower limb ischaemia. J R Soc Med. 1989 Dec;82(12):729–31.
- Khan NA, Rahim SA, Anand SS, Simel DL, Panju A. Does the clinical examination predict lower extremity peripheral arterial disease? JAMA. 2006 Feb 1;295(5):536– 46.
- 90. Pascarelli EF, Bertrand CA, Lopez M. Comparison of Blood Pressures in the Arms and Legs. N Engl J Med. 1964 Apr 2;270(14):693–8.
- 91. Lijmer JG, Hunink MGM, van den Dungen JJAM, Loonstra J, Smit AJ. ROC analysis of noninvasive tests for peripheral arterial disease. Ultrasound Med Biol. 1996 Jan 1;22(4):391–8.
- 92. Fowkes FG. The measurement of atherosclerotic peripheral arterial disease in epidemiological surveys. Int J Epidemiol. 1988 Jun;17(2):248–54.
- 93. Allison MA, Hiatt WR, Hirsch AT, Coll JR, Criqui MH. A high ankle-brachial index is associated with increased cardiovascular disease morbidity and lower quality of life. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008 Apr 1;51(13):1292–8.
- 94. Guirguis-Blake JM, Evans CV, Redmond N, Lin JS. Screening for Peripheral Artery Disease Using the Ankle-Brachial Index: An Updated Systematic Review for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force [Internet]. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2018 [cited 2018 Oct 4]. (U.S. Preventive Services Task Force Evidence Syntheses, formerly Systematic Evidence Reviews). Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK526319/

- 95. Spittell JA. Diagnosis and management of occlusive peripheral arterial disease. Curr Probl Cardiol. 1990 Jan;15(1):1–35.
- 96. Noninvasive diagnosis of arterial disease UpToDate [Internet]. [cited 2018 Oct 17]. Available from: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/noninvasive-diagnosis-of-arterialdisease?sectionName=ADVANCED%20IMAGING&topicRef=8208&anchor=H5854 4732&source=see_link#H58544732
- 97. Aboyans V, Criqui MH, Denenberg JO, Knoke JD, Ridker PM, Fronek A. Risk factors for progression of peripheral arterial disease in large and small vessels. Circulation. 2006 Jun 6;113(22):2623–9.
- Allison MA, Cushman M, Solomon C, Aboyans V, McDermott MM, Goff DC, et al. Ethnicity and risk factors for change in the ankle-brachial index: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. J Vasc Surg. 2009 Nov;50(5):1049–56.
- 99. Sigvant B, Lundin F, Wahlberg E. The Risk of Disease Progression in Peripheral Arterial Disease is Higher than Expected: A Meta-Analysis of Mortality and Disease Progression in Peripheral Arterial Disease. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg Off J Eur Soc Vasc Surg. 2016 Mar;51(3):395–403.
- 100. Hussain MA, Lindsay TF, Mamdani M, Wang X, Verma S, Al-Omran M. Sex differences in the outcomes of peripheral arterial disease: a population-based cohort study. CMAJ Open. 2016 Mar;4(1):E124-131.
- 101. Valentine RJ, Grayburn PA, Eichhorn EJ, Myers SI, Clagett GP. Coronary artery disease is highly prevalent among patients with premature peripheral vascular disease. J Vasc Surg. 1994 Apr;19(4):668–74.
- 102. Screening of the internal carotid arteries in patients with peripheral vascular disease by colour-flow duplex scanning. - PubMed - NCBI [Internet]. [cited 2018 Sep 6]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2009983
- 103. Novo S. Classification, epidemiology, risk factors, and natural history of peripheral arterial disease. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2002 Mar;4 Suppl 2:S1-6.
- 104. Diehm C, Allenberg JR, Pittrow D, Mahn M, Tepohl G, Haberl RL, et al. Mortality and vascular morbidity in older adults with asymptomatic versus symptomatic peripheral artery disease. Circulation. 2009 Nov 24;120(21):2053–61.
- 105. Higashi Y, Miyata T, Shigematsu H, Origasa H, Fujita M, Matsuo H, et al. Two-Year Follow-Up of Vascular Events in Peripheral Arterial Disease Treated With Antiplatelet Agents: A Prospective Observational Multicenter Cohort Study (SEASON). Sci Rep. 2017 Jul 21;7(1):6095.

- 106. 1-s2.0-S0741521406022968-gr7.jpg (878×526) [Internet]. [cited 2018 Sep 6]. Available from: https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-S0741521406022968-gr7.jpg
- 107. 1-s2.0-S0741521406022968-gr8.jpg (580×365) [Internet]. [cited 2018 Sep 7]. Available from: https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-S0741521406022968-gr8.jpg
- 108. Aquino R, Johnnides C, Makaroun M, Whittle JC, Muluk VS, Kelley ME, et al. Natural history of claudication: long-term serial follow-up study of 1244 claudicants. J Vasc Surg. 2001 Dec;34(6):962–70.
- 109. Golledge J, Moxon JV, Rowbotham S, Pinchbeck J, Yip L, Velu R, et al. Risk of major amputation in patients with intermittent claudication undergoing early revascularization. Br J Surg. 2018 May;105(6):699–708.
- 110. Weitz JI, Byrne J, Clagett GP, Farkouh ME, Porter JM, Sackett DL, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of chronic arterial insufficiency of the lower extremities: a critical review. Circulation. 1996 Dec 1;94(11):3026–49.
- 111. Jain A, Liu K, Ferrucci L, Criqui MH, Tian L, Guralnik JM, et al. The Walking Impairment Questionnaire stair-climbing score predicts mortality in men and women with peripheral arterial disease. J Vasc Surg. 2012 Jun;55(6):1662-1673.e2.
- 112. Taute B-M, Thommes S, Taute R, Rapmund I, Lindner K, Podhaisky H. Long-term outcome of patients with mild intermittent claudication under secondary prevention. VASA Z Gefasskrankheiten. 2009 Nov;38(4):346–55.
- 113. McDermott MM, Greenland P, Guralnik JM, Liu K, Criqui MH, Pearce WH, et al. Depressive symptoms and lower extremity functioning in men and women with peripheral arterial disease. J Gen Intern Med. 2003 Jun;18(6):461–7.
- 114. Izquierdo-Porrera AM, Gardner AW, Bradham DD, Montgomery PS, Sorkin JD, Powell CC, et al. Relationship between objective measures of peripheral arterial disease severity to self-reported quality of life in older adults with intermittent claudication. J Vasc Surg. 2005 Apr;41(4):625–30.
- 115. Wolfe JH, Wyatt MG. Critical and subcritical ischaemia. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg Off J Eur Soc Vasc Surg. 1997 Jun;13(6):578–82.
- 116. Harris LM, Peer R, Curl GR, Pillai L, Upson J, Ricotta JJ. Long-term follow-up of patients with early atherosclerosis. J Vasc Surg. 1996 Apr;23(4):576–80; discussion 581.

- 117. Britton KA, Mukamal KJ, Ix JH, Siscovick DS, Newman AB, de Boer IH, et al. Insulin resistance and incident peripheral artery disease in the Cardiovascular Health Study. Vasc Med Lond Engl. 2012 Apr;17(2):85–93.
- 118. Belch J, MacCuish A, Campbell I, Cobbe S, Taylor R, Prescott R, et al. The prevention of progression of arterial disease and diabetes (POPADAD) trial: factorial randomised placebo controlled trial of aspirin and antioxidants in patients with diabetes and asymptomatic peripheral arterial disease. The BMJ [Internet]. 2008 Oct 16 [cited 2018 Sep 15];337. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2658865/
- 119. Eklof B, Perrin M, Delis KT, Rutherford RB, Gloviczki P. Updated terminology of chronic venous disorders: The VEIN-TERM transatlantic interdisciplinary consensus document. J Vasc Surg. 2009 Feb 1;49(2):498–501.
- 120. Labropoulos N, Giannoukas AD, Delis K, Mansour MA, Kang SS, Nicolaides AN, et al. Where does venous reflux start? J Vasc Surg. 1997 Nov 1;26(5):736–42.
- 121. Tretbar LL. Deep veins. Dermatol Surg Off Publ Am Soc Dermatol Surg Al. 1995 Jan;21(1):47–51.
- 122. Cetin C, Serbest MO, Ercan S, Yavuz T, Erdogan A. An evaluation of the lower extremity muscle strength of patients with chronic venous insufficiency. Phlebology. 2016 Apr;31(3):203–8.
- 123. Sansilvestri-Morel P, Rupin A, Badier-Commander C, Kern P, Fabiani JN, Verbeuren TJ, et al. Imbalance in the synthesis of collagen type I and collagen type III in smooth muscle cells derived from human varicose veins. J Vasc Res. 2001 Dec;38(6):560–8.
- 124. Jacob MP, Badier-Commander C, Fontaine V, Benazzoug Y, Feldman L, Michel JB. Extracellular matrix remodeling in the vascular wall. Pathol Biol (Paris). 2001 May;49(4):326–32.
- 125. Travers JP, Brookes CE, Evans J, Baker DM, Kent C, Makin GS, et al. Assessment of wall structure and composition of varicose veins with reference to collagen, elastin and smooth muscle content. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg Off J Eur Soc Vasc Surg. 1996 Feb;11(2):230–7.
- 126. Selective pick-up of increased iron by deferoxamine-coupled cellulose abrogates the iron-driven induction of matrix-degrading metalloproteinase 1 a... PubMed NCBI [Internet]. [cited 2018 Oct 13]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed?term=11407968

- 127. Pappas PJ, DeFouw DO, Venezio LM, Gorti R, Padberg FT, Silva MB, et al. Morphometric assessment of the dermal microcirculation in patients with chronic venous insufficiency. J Vasc Surg. 1997 Nov;26(5):784–95.
- Bates DO, Curry FE. Vascular endothelial growth factor increases hydraulic conductivity of isolated perfused microvessels. Am J Physiol. 1996 Dec;271(6 Pt 2):H2520-2528.
- 129. Herouy Y, May AE, Pornschlegel G, Stetter C, Grenz H, Preissner KT, et al. Lipodermatosclerosis is characterized by elevated expression and activation of matrix metalloproteinases: implications for venous ulcer formation. J Invest Dermatol. 1998 Nov;111(5):822–7.
- 130. Evans CJ, Fowkes FG, Ruckley CV, Lee AJ. Prevalence of varicose veins and chronic venous insufficiency in men and women in the general population: Edinburgh Vein Study. J Epidemiol Community Health. 1999 Mar;53(3):149–53.
- 131. Chiesa R, Marone EM, Limoni C, Volontè M, Petrini O. Chronic venous disorders: Correlation between visible signs, symptoms, and presence of functional disease. J Vasc Surg. 2007 Aug 1;46(2):322–30.
- 132. Criqui MH, Jamosmos M, Fronek A, Denenberg JO, Langer RD, Bergan J, et al. Chronic Venous Disease in an Ethnically Diverse Population The San Diego Population Study. Am J Epidemiol. 2003 Sep 1;158(5):448–56.
- 133. Baker SR, Stacey MC, Jopp-McKay AG, Hoskin SE, Thompson PJ. Epidemiology of chronic venous ulcers. Br J Surg. 1991 Jul;78(7):864–7.
- 134. Scott TE, LaMorte WW, Gorin DR, Menzoian JO. Risk factors for chronic venous insufficiency: a dual case-control study. J Vasc Surg. 1995 Nov;22(5):622–8.
- Sadick NS. Predisposing factors of varicose and telangiectatic leg veins. J Dermatol Surg Oncol. 1992 Oct;18(10):883–6.
- 136. Vlajinac HD, Radak DJ, Marinkovic JM, Maksimovic MZ. Risk factors for chronic venous disease. Phlebology. 2012 Dec;27(8):416–22.
- 137. Vlajinac HD, Marinkovic JM, Maksimovic MZ, Matic PA, Radak DJ. Body mass index and primary chronic venous disease--a cross-sectional study. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg Off J Eur Soc Vasc Surg. 2013 Mar;45(3):293–8.
- 138. Robertson LA, Evans CJ, Lee AJ, Allan PL, Ruckley CV, Fowkes FGR. Incidence and risk factors for venous reflux in the general population: Edinburgh Vein Study. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg Off J Eur Soc Vasc Surg. 2014 Aug;48(2):208–14.

- 139. Fowkes FG, Lee AJ, Evans CJ, Allan PL, Bradbury AW, Ruckley CV. Lifestyle risk factors for lower limb venous reflux in the general population: Edinburgh Vein Study. Int J Epidemiol. 2001 Aug;30(4):846–52.
- 140. Iannuzzi A, Panico S, Ciardullo AV, Bellati C, Cioffi V, Iannuzzo G, et al. Varicose veins of the lower limbs and venous capacitance in postmenopausal women: relationship with obesity. J Vasc Surg. 2002 Nov;36(5):965–8.
- 141. Fan C-M. Venous Pathophysiology. Semin Interv Radiol. 2005 Sep;22(3):157-61.
- 142. Criqui MH, Denenberg JO, Bergan J, Langer RD, Fronek A. Risk Factors for Chronic Venous Disease: the San Diego Population Study. J Vasc Surg Off Publ Soc Vasc Surg Int Soc Cardiovasc Surg North Am Chapter. 2007 Aug;46(2):331–7.
- 143. Callam MJ. Epidemiology of varicose veins. Br J Surg. 1994 Feb;81(2):167–73.
- 144. Sorte S, Waghmare L, Banode P, Srivastava T, A Biswas D. EFFECT OF HEIGHT ON CHRONIC VENOUS INSUFFICIENCY PATIENTS OF RURAL WARDHA: A CROSS SECTIONAL STUDY. Int J Recent Sci Res. 2012 Nov 29;3:977–81.
- 145. Cornu-Thenard A, Boivin P, Baud JM, De Vincenzi I, Carpentier PH. Importance of the familial factor in varicose disease. Clinical study of 134 families. J Dermatol Surg Oncol. 1994 May;20(5):318–26.
- 146. Serra R, Buffone G, de Franciscis A, Mastrangelo D, Molinari V, Montemurro R, et al. A genetic study of chronic venous insufficiency. Ann Vasc Surg. 2012 Jul;26(5):636–42.
- 147. Anwar MA, Georgiadis KA, Shalhoub J, Lim CS, Gohel MS, Davies AH. A Review of Familial, Genetic, and Congenital Aspects of Primary Varicose Vein Disease. Circ Cardiovasc Genet. 2012 Aug;5(4):460–6.
- 148. Abbade LPF, Lastória S, Rollo H de A. Venous ulcer: clinical characteristics and risk factors. Int J Dermatol. 2011 Apr;50(4):405–11.
- 149. Eklöf B, Rutherford RB, Bergan JJ, Carpentier PH, Gloviczki P, Kistner RL, et al. Revision of the CEAP classification for chronic venous disorders: Consensus statement. J Vasc Surg. 2004 Dec 1;40(6):1248–52.
- Labropoulos N, Tiongson J, Pryor L, Tassiopoulos AK, Kang SS, Ashraf Mansour M, et al. Definition of venous reflux in lower-extremity veins. J Vasc Surg. 2003 Oct;38(4):793–8.
- 151. Vasquez MA, Rabe E, McLafferty RB, Shortell CK, Marston WA, Gillespie D, et al. Revision of the venous clinical severity score: Venous outcomes consensus statement:

Special communication of the American Venous Forum Ad Hoc Outcomes Working Group. J Vasc Surg. 2010 Nov 1;52(5):1387–96.

- 152. Kundu S, Lurie F, Millward SF, Padberg F, Vedantham S, Elias S, et al. Recommended reporting standards for endovenous ablation for the treatment of venous insufficiency: Joint Statement of the American Venous Forum and the Society of Interventional Radiology. J Vasc Surg. 2007 Sep 1;46(3):582–9.
- 153. Stolt P, Bengtsson C, Nordmark B, Lindblad S, Lundberg I, Klareskog L, et al. Quantification of the influence of cigarette smoking on rheumatoid arthritis: results from a population based case-control study, using incident cases. Ann Rheum Dis. 2003 Sep;62(9):835–41.
- 154. Standard Drink | Alcohol Web India [Internet]. [cited 2018 Oct 8]. Available from: https://www.alcoholwebindia.in/content/standard-drink
- 155. Layden J, Michaels J, Bermingham S, Higgins B. Diagnosis and management of lower limb peripheral arterial disease: summary of NICE guidance. BMJ. 2012 Aug 8;345:e4947.
- 156. Singh T, Sharma S, Nagesh S. Socio-economic status scales updated for 2017. Int J Res Med Sci. 2017 Jun 24;5(7):3264.
- 157. Barón MA, Khamashta MA, Hughes GRV, D'Cruz DP. Prevalence of an abnormal ankle-brachial index in patients with primary antiphospholipid syndrome: preliminary data. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005 Jan 1;64(1):144–6.
- 158. Tamil Nadu Population Sex Ratio in Tamil Nadu Literacy rate data [Internet]. [cited 2018 Oct 10]. Available from: https://www.census2011.co.in/census/state/tamil+nadu.html
- 159. Kaur P, Ramachandra rao S, Radhakrishnan E, Ramachandran R, Venkatachalam R, Gupte M. High prevalence of tobacco use, alcohol use and overweight in a rural population in Tamil Nadu, India. J Postgrad Med. 2011 Feb 7;57:9–15.
- 160. Chauhan R, Chauhan N, Mani M, Purty AJ, Mishra A, Singh Z. Obesity among adult population of a rural coastal area in South India. Int J Sci Rep. 2015 Jan 1;1:155–8.
- 161. Pradeepa R, Anjana RM, Joshi SR, Bhansali A, Deepa M, Joshi PP, et al. Prevalence of generalized & abdominal obesity in urban & rural India- the ICMR - INDIAB Study (Phase-I) [ICMR - INDIAB-3]. Indian J Med Res. 2015 Aug;142(2):139–50.
- 162. Gupta SK, Singh Z, Purty AJ, Kar M, Vedapriya D, Mahajan P, et al. Diabetes Prevalence and its Risk Factors in Rural Area of Tamil Nadu. Indian J Community Med Off Publ Indian Assoc Prev Soc Med. 2010 Jul;35(3):396–9.

- 163. Kaur P, Rao SR, Radhakrishnan E, Rajasekar D, Gupte MD. Prevalence, awareness, treatment, control and risk factors for hypertension in a rural population in South India. Int J Public Health. 2012 Feb;57(1):87–94.
- 164. M Anjana R, Pradeepa RG, Deepa M, Datta M, Vasudevan S, Unnikrishnan R, et al. Prevalence of diabetes and prediabetes (impaired fasting glucose and/or impaired glucose tolerance) in urban and rural India: Phase I results of the Indian Council of Medical Research-INdia DIABetes (ICMR-INDIAB) study. Diabetologia. 2011 Sep 30;54:3022–7.
- 165. Oommen AM, Abraham VJ, George K, Jose VJ. Prevalence of coronary heart disease in rural and urban Vellore: A repeat cross-sectional survey. Indian Heart J. 2016 Jul 1;68(4):473–9.
- 166. D S, K.R J. Study to assess the prevalence of stroke in the kattankulathur block of kancheepuram disrict, Tamil nadu, india. Int J Pharma Bio Sci [Internet]. 2016 Oct 17 [cited 2018 Oct 10];7(4). Available from: http://ijpbs.net/download.php?download_file=cms/php/upload/5501_pdf.pdf&did=55 01
- 167. Krishna M, Oommen AM, G JSP, Abraham VJ, George K. Prevalence of intermittent claudication in rural and urban Vellore, Tamil Nadu, India: a population-based study. Int Surg J. 2018 Jun 25;5(7):2620–2.

Annexure 1 - Questionnaire

				Date	
1.	S.No:				
2.	Household N	lo:			
3.	Subject Id:				
4.	Name :				
5.	Village :			Street:	Door No:
6.	Age:				
7.	Sex:	Male	Female	Transgender	
8.	Religion:	Hindu	Muslim	Christian	Others
9.	Caste (specif	fy):			
10	. Education:	Nil I	Primary school	Middle school	
	High	school			
	Higher Seco	ndary/Di	plomaGraduate/F	Post Graduate Professi	onal/Honours
11	. Literacy:	Illiterate	e Read	Read & write	
12	. Occupation:				
	Unem	ployed	/ Unskilled /	Semi-skilled / Skilled	/ Clerical,
	shop owner,	farmer	/ Semi-professio	onal / Professional	
13	. How often d	o you eat	fruits: dail	y/a week/a mo	onth/less than

monthly

14. How often do you eat vegetables: daily / a week / a month / less than monthly 15. Type of family: Nuclear / Extended or Joint 16. Number of members in the family: 17. Family income /month (total) _____ 18. BG Prasad scale-social class _____ 19. CHAD/CMC Hospital number: 20. Are you a diabetic? Yes / No 21. If yes, how long have you had diabetes? _____ Yrs _____Mths 22. What type of Medications are you on for Diabetes? 23. Is there documented evidence of Diabetic Retinopathy: Yes / No 24. Are you a hypertensive? Yes / No 25. If yes, how long have you had hypertension? _____ Yrs _____Mths 26. What medications are you on for Hypertension? 27. Have you ever smoked? Yes-Current / Yes-Past / Never (If Never, go to Q.33) 28. (If 'Yes to 27) – Do/Did you smoke Daily? Yes/No (if No, go to Q.33) 29. How many **cigarettes** do/did you smoke per day?_____ 30. How many **beedis** do/did you smoke per day?_____ 31. How long have you been smoking?_____(yrs)

32. Pack Years of smoking _____

- 33. In the last 7 days, on how many days were you exposed to a person who was smoking in your home/workplace_____(range 0-7)?
- 34. Have you ever consumed alcohol? Yes-Current / Yes-Past / Never (If Never, go to Q.37 or 40)

35. If yes, how often do/did you consume alcohol?

daily / a week / a month / less than monthly
36. On an average (usually) how much alcohol (hard liquor/beer/wine/local drinks) do you consume on the days that you drink?_____ml of ______

_

_____ml of _____

_____ml of _____

37. (For females only)Parity:

38. (For females only) Have you taken OCPs? Yes / No

39. (If yes to Q38)Total duration: _____Yrs _____Months

40. Past history of Stroke/TIA: Yes / No

41. Past history of coronary artery disease: Yes / No

The Edinburgh Claudication questionnaire:

42. Do you get pain or discomfort in your leg(s) when you walk? Yes /

No / Unable to walk (if no, proceed to Q. No 48)

43. If yes, does this pain ever begin when you are standing still or sitting?

Yes / No

- 44. Do you get pain if you walk uphill or hurry? Yes / No
- 45. Do you get it when you walk at an ordinary pace on level ground? Yes / No
- 46. What happens to it when you stand still? Continues > 10 mins / Disappears in <10 mins
- 47. How long do you walk before you get the pain/discomfort in your legs?

_____ m

- 48. Height (cm)_____
- 49. Weight (kg) _ _ _ _ _
- 50. Left upper limb peripheral pulse: Present / Absent
- 51. Right lower limb peripheral pulse: Present / Absent
- 52. Left lower limb peripheral pulse: Present / Absent
- 53. (Local exam) : Gangrene Yes / No
- 54. (Local exam) CEAP classification: Telangiectasia / Varicose veins / Ankle

Oedema / Lipodermatosclerosis / Healed Ulcer / Active Ulcer

55. Left Upper limb Systolic Blood pressure:_____

56. Right Lower Systolic limb Blood Pressure:

- 57. Left lower limb Systolic blood pressure:_____
- 58. ABPI :
- 59. Peripheral Vascular Disease: Yes / No

For Selected Cases and Controls

60. Category: Case /	Control	
61. Value of Creatinine:	(Date of last creatinine:)
62. HbA1C value:	(Date of last HbA1C :)
63. Lipid Profile Value:	(Date of last Lipid profile :)
64. Haemoglobin:		

Annexure 2 – Information Sheet and Consent Form – English

Information sheet

Name of the principle investiga	tor:	., CHAD,	Bagayam,	Vellore –
632002. Phone no :	. E-mail id :			

Name of the organization: Department of community health, Christian Medical College, Vellore

Title: Prevalence of Peripheral Vascular Disease in the Community and associated risk factors: a cross sectional study

We are doing a study to find out the prevalence of peripheral vascular disease among the general population and its causes in kaniyambadi block. We are inviting you to participate in the study. Please review this form carefully and ask any questions about the study before you agree to join. You may also ask questions at any time after joining the study

Purpose:

Diabetics are at an increased risk for peripheral occlusive arterial disease. Peripheral arterial disease has a huge economic burden on the family and the community there are no existing data regarding prevalence of peripheral vascular disease in a rural community. This study aims to fill the knowledge gap and find out the prevalence of peripheral vascular disease among diabetics in Kaniyambadi block.

Procedure: You are invited to participate in the study. A questionnaire will be administered to you. Your blood pressure will be measured, both upper and lower limbs, using a Doppler machine and a ratio is taken to determine disease (Ankle Brachial Ppressure Index). A blood test will be taken from you. Not more than 6 mL will be drawn from you.

Side effects: There may be bleeding or infection at the site of drawing blood.

Risks and discomfort: There will not be any or discomfortto you as the procedure is noninvasive. Blood sample will be taken in CMC to check for your haemoglobin, white blood cell counts, platelet counts, fasting and post prandial blood glucose levels, serum creatinine values as well as lipid (cholesterol) levels.

Benefits: Your participation is likely to help us find answers about peripheral vascular disease among diabetics in Kaniyambadi block.

Expenses: All investigations will be done free of cost for the patient. No cash incentives will be given for taking part in the study.

Confidentiality: The information that we collect from this research project will be kept confidential. Information about you that will be collected from the study will be stored in a file and will be kept locked with access only to the primary investigator.

Right to refuse or withdraw: You do not have to join in this research if you do not wish to do so. You may stop participation in the research at any time without losing any of your rights as a patient here. Your treatment at this center will not be affected in any way.

If new information becomes available: Sometimes, after a research study has started, the researchers learn new things about peripheral vascular disease or ankle brachial pressure index. If this happens, we will tell you about the new information. Then you can decide whether you will continue participating.

Whom to contact: If you have any questions you may ask them now or later. If you wish to ask questions later, you may contact the principal investigator in CHAD, Bagayam, Vellore.

Informed Consent form to participate in a research study

Study Title: Incidence of	Diabetic Neuropat	hy among diabetics	
and associated risk facto	rs: a concurrent col	nort study	
Study Number:	Subject's	Initials:	-
Subject'sName:			
Date of Birth / Age:			

- (i) I confirm that I have read and understood the information sheet dated ______
 for the above study and have had the opportunity to ask questions. []
- (ii) I understand that my participation in the study is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving any reason, without my medical care or legal rights being affected. []
- (iii) I understand that the Ethics Committee and the regulatory authorities will not need my permission to look at my health records both in respect of the current study and any further research that may be conducted in relation to it, even if I withdraw from the trial. I agree to this access. However, I understand that my identity will not be revealed in any information released to third parties or published. []
- (iv) I agree not to restrict the use of any data or results that arise from this study provided such a use is only for scientific purpose(s). []
- (v) I agree to take part in the above study. []

Signature (or Thumb impression) of the Subject/Legally Acceptable

Date://	
Signatory's Name:	Signature:
Or	
Representative:	
Date://	
Signatory's Name:	
Signat.ure of the Investigator:	

Date: ____/___/____

Study Investigator's Name: _____

Signature or thumb impression of the Witness:

Date: ____/___Name & Address of the Witness:

Annexure 3 – Information Sheet and Consent Form – Tamil

முதன்மை ஆய்வரின் பெயர் மற்றும் முகவரி	:	சமுதாய சுகாதாரம் மற்றும் வளர்ச்சி மையம் கிறிஸ்தவ மருத்துவக் கல்லூரி மருத்துவமனை, பாகாயம், வேலூர் - 632 002 தொ. மின்னஞ்
நிறுவனத்தின் பெயர்	:	சமுதாயச் சுகாதாரத் துறை கிறிஸ்தவ மருத்துவக் கல்லூரி வேலூர் - 632 002
ஆய்வுக் கட்டுரையின் தலைப்பு	:	தென்னிந்தியாவில் உள்ள ஒரு ஊரக பகுதியில் 18 வயதுக்கு மேற்பட்டோரின் புற அமைவு இரத்த ஓட்ட மண்டல பாதிப்பின் பரவலையும் அதன் மூல காரணங்களையும் கணிக்கும் ஒர் ஆய்வ

புற அமைவு இரத்த ஒட்ட மண்டலத்தில் ஏற்படும் நோய்களும், அதினால் ஏற்படும் பாதிப்பும் குறித்து கண்ணியம்பாடி ஒன்றியத்தில் வாழும் சமுதாயத்தினரினிடையே மேற்கொள்ளப்படும் ஒர் மருத்துவ ஆய்வு இது. நீங்கள் உங்கள் ஒத்துழைப்பை கொடுத்து, பங்கேற்க வேண்டுகிறோம். இந்தப் படிவத்தை நன்கு வாசித்து, ஏதாவது சந்தேகத்திற்குரிய கேள்விகள் இருக்குமென்றால் அதை தெளிவுபடுத்தி அதற்கு பின் இந்த ஆய்விற்கு உங்கள் சம்மதத்தை தெரிவியுங்கள். ஆராய்ச்சி மேற்கொள்ளும் போதும் நீங்கள் தயங்காமல் கேள்விகளை கேட்கலாம்.

ஆய்வின் நோக்கம்

சாதாரணமாக புற அமைவு இரத்த ஒட்ட மண்டலத்தில் (தமனி) இடையூறை ஏற்படுத்த காரணமாய் உள்ளது. இரத்த தமனிக் குழாய் நோய் வந்தால் அது குடும்பத்தின் பொருளாதாரத்தை மட்டுமல்ல, சமுதாயத்தையுமே தளர வைக்கும். ஊரக மற்றும் கிராம சமுதாயங்களில் இந்த தமனி நோய் பிரச்சனையைக் குறித்து சரியான புள்ளியியல் விவரங்கள் கிடைக்கப் பெறவில்லை. இந்த அறிவியல் பூர்வமான அறிவு இடைவெளியை நிரப்பவும், புற அமைவு இரத்த ஒட்ட மண்டலத்தில் ஏற்படும் நோய்களும் அதினால் நோயாளியை பாதிக்கும் காரணங்களையும் கண்டறிவதே இந்த ஆய்வின் முக்கிய நோக்கமாகும். இந்த ஆய்விற்கு கண்ணியம்பாடி ஒன்றியம், வேலூர் மாவட்டம் தெரிந்து கொள்ளப்பட்டது.

ஆய்வின் வழிமுறைகள்

நீங்கள் இந்த ஆய்வில் பங்கேற்க அழைக்கின்றோம். 'கேள்விகள் பட்டியல்' ஒன்று உங்களிடம் தரப்படும். உங்கள் கை மற்றும் கால் இரத்த அழுத்த அளவீடுகள் – டாப்ளர் என்னும் கருவியோடு விகிதாச்சாரங்கள் கணக்கிடப்பட்டு, நோயின் கணுக்கால் மற்றும் தோள்பட்டை அழுத்தக் குறியீடு கண்டறியப்படும். ஒரு இரத்த பரிசோதனை செய்யப்படும். உங்கள் உடம்பிலிருந்து 6 மி.லி. இரத்தம் எடுக்கப்படும்.

പക്ക ഖിണൈഖുകണ്

ஒரு வேளை இரத்தம் எடுத்த இடத்தில் சிறு கசிவு வரலாம் அல்லது அழற்சி அந்த இடத்தில் ஏற்படலாம்.

அசௌகரியங்கள் மற்றும் விளைவுகள்

உடலில் இதினால் எந்த அசௌகரியமும் ஏற்பட வாய்ப்பில்லை. ஏனெனில் துளையிட்ட வழிமுறைகள் ஒன்றும் செய்யப்படவில்லை. இரத்த பரிசோதனை ஒன்று கிறிஸ்தவ மருத்துவமனையிலிருந்து எடுக்கப்படும். இதன் மூலம் உடலில் எத்தனை சிவப்பணுக்கள், வெள்ளையணுக்கள், இரத்த தட்டுகள், உணவிற்கு முன்பு / பின்பு இரத்தத்தில் காணப்படும் குளுக்கோஸ் அளவு, நிண சீரம், கிரியாட்டினின் அளவீடுகள் மற்றும் கொழுப்பு சார்ந்த பொருட்களின் அளவும் கணக்கிடப்படும்.

ஆய்வின் பயன்கள்

இந்த ஆய்வில் நீங்கள் பங்கேற்பதினால் சரியான அறிவியல் ரீதியான கண்டுபிடிப்புகளுக்கு உதவுகின்றீர்கள், மற்றும் நோயாளிகளில் புற அமைவு இரத்த மண்டல தமனி நோய் எவ்வித தாக்கத்தை ஏற்படுத்துகிறது என்று கண்ணியம்பாடி ஒன்றியத்தை ஓர் ஆய்வுக்களமாக வைத்து பல கண்டுபிடிப்புகள் செய்ய உதவியாய் உள்ளது.

செலவினங்கள்

எல்லா பரிசோதனைகளும் பணமின்றி இலவசமாக செய்து தரப்படும். இந்த ஆய்வில் பங்கு பெற்றதற்கு எந்தவித ஊக்கத் தொகையும் தரப்பட மாட்டாது.

ரகசியம் பாதுகாக்கப்படும்

இந்த ஆய்வில் தெரியவரும் எல்லா புள்ளி விவரங்களும் மிகவும் ரகசியமாக, பாதுகாப்பாக வைக்கப்படும். நீங்கள் பகிர்ந்து கொள்ளும் செய்திகள் அனைத்தும் ஒரு கோப்பு இணைப்புதொகுப்பில் போடப்பட்டு, பூட்டப்படும். முதன்மை ஆய்வாளர் மட்டுமே இந்த விவரங்களை பயன்படுத்துவர்.

மறுப்பதோ, பின் வாங்குவதோ – உங்கள் உரிமை

உங்களுக்கு விருப்பம் இல்லை என்றால் தைரியமாக நீங்கள் இந்த ஆய்வில் பங்கேற்க முடியாது என்று சொல்லலாம் அல்லது ஆய்வுக்கு இடையே ஏதாவது காரணத்தால் பங்கேற்க முடியாது என்ற சூழலில் நீங்கள் பின்வாங்கி ஆய்வை விட்டு வெளியேறலாம். இது உங்கள் அடிப்படை உரிமை. இதன் காரணமாக சமுதாய சுகாதார மற்றும் வளர்ச்சி மையத்தில் உங்களுக்கு அளிக்கப்படும் சிகிச்சையின் தரமோ, அளவோ குறைந்து விடும் என்ற அச்சம் யாருக்கும் வேண்டாம்.

ஆய்வில் புதிய தகவல், விவரங்கள் கிடைத்தால்..!

சில வேளைகளில், ஆய்வு முடிந்த பின், முதன்மை ஆய்வாளர் புற அமைவு இரத்த தமனி நோயைப் பற்றியோ, கணுக்கால் மற்றும் தோள்பட்டை அழுத்த குறியீடு பற்றியோ ஒரு புது செய்தி, விபரம் அறிந்தால் அது உங்களுக்கு சொல்லப்படும். அப்போது நீங்கள் இந்த ஆய்வில் தொடரலாமா ? இல்லையா? என்று நீங்கள் தீர்மானம் செய்து கொள்ளலாம்.

யாரை அணுகுவது ?

இந்த ஆய்வைக் குறித்து ஏதாவது சந்தேகங்கள், கேள்விகள் இருப்பின் இப்போதோ, அல்லது ஆய்வுக்கு பின்போ கேட்கலாம். ஆய்வுக்குப் பின் கேட்க வேண்டும் என்றால் சமுதாய சுகாதார மற்றும் வளர்ச்சி மையத்தில் (பாகாயம்), வேலூரில் பணிபுரியும் முதன்மை ஆய்வாளரிடம் நீங்கள் தெரிவிக்கலாம்.

விபரமறிந் மருத்துவ	து ெ கல்)தரிவிக்கும் இசைவுப் படிவம் – வி ஆய்வில் பங்கேற்பு படிவம்
ஆய்வுத் தலைப்பு 🔅	:	தென்னிந்தியாவில் உள்ள ஒரு ஊரக பகுதியில் 18 வயதுக்கு மேற்பட்டோரின் புற அமைவு இரத்த ஒட்ட மண்டல பாதிப்பின் பரவலையும் அதன் மூல காரணங்களையும் கணிக்கும் ஒர் ஆய்வு
കൃധ്ഖ எண்	:	
பங்கேற்பவரின் : கையொப்பம்		
பங்கேற்பவரின் பெயர்:		
பிறந்த தேதி / வயது 🗆		

- (1) இந்த ஆய்வுக் கருத்தை நான் படித்து நன்றாகப் புரிந்து கொண்டேன் என உறுதியளிக்கிறேன். விபரப்படிவம் / தேதி ______ மற்றும் இதனைக் குறித்த கேள்விகளையும் கேட்க எனக்கு வாய்ப்புகள் அளிக்கப்பட்டது. []
- (2) இந்த ஆய்வில் நான் பங்கேற்க தன்னார்வத்தோடு சம்மதம் தெரிவிப்பதோடு, ஆய்வின் இடையே எந்த காரணமும் சொல்லாமல் இடைநிற்பதற்கு எந்த தடையும் இல்லை என்பதனையும் அதனால் என்னுடைய சட்ட ரீதியான உரிமை மற்றும் மருத்துவ பராமரிப்பு எவ்விதத்திலும் பாதிக்கப்படாது என்பதையும் புரிந்து கொண்டேன் []
- (3) எனது உடல்நலம் பற்றி விபர கோப்புகள் மற்றும் ஆய்வு மூலம் பெறப்பட்ட செய்திகள் மற்றும் எதிர்காலத்தில் நடத்தப்படும் ஆய்வு குறிப்புகளை ஆதரவாளர் அல்லது அவருக்கு பதிலீடு செய்பவர் அல்லது நன்னெறிக் கோட்பாட்டு குழு அல்லது ஒழுங்கு நெறி மேலாளர்கள் பார்ப்பதற்கோ, கேட்டு அறிவதற்கோ எந்தத் தடையும் இல்லை என்று நான் புரிந்து கொன்டேன். (இடைநின்றல் ஏற்பட்டாலும்) அப்படியிருந்தும் என்னுடைய அடையாளத்தை எந்த ஒரு மூன்றாம் நபரிடமோ, குழுவினரிடமோ தெரிவிக்கப்பட மாட்டாது என்றும் அறிக்கை வெளியிடப்படமாட்டாது என்றும் நான் புரிந்துள்ளேன்.

- (4) இந்த ஆய்வுத் தரவுகள், முடிவுகள், புள்ளியியல் செய்திகள் அறிவியல் ரீதியான பகுப்பாய்வுக்கு எந்தவித தடையுமின்றி பயன்படுத்தலாம் என்று சம்மதம் தெரிவிக்கிறேன். []]
- (5) நான் இந்த ஆய்வில் பங்கேற்க சம்மதம் தெரிவிக்கின்றேன். [🤤]

கையெ (சப	ாப்பம் ட்ட வித்	(அல்லது பெருவிரல் பதிவு) 1முறைகளுக்கு உட்பட்டது)
தேதி		
கையொப்பமிடும் நபரின் பெயர்	_	கையொப்பம்
அல்லது		
அவரின் பிரதிநிதி 🛛 :		
தேதி		
பிரதிநிதியின் பெயர்	: _	
முதன்மை ஆய்வாளரின் கையொப்பம்	: _	
தேதி		
முதன்மை ஆய்வாளரின் பெயர்	: _	
தேதி		
சாட்சியின் கையொப்பம் / பெருவிரல் பதிவு	: _	
தேதி		
சாட்சியின் பெயர்	: _	
முகவரி		

Annexure 4 – Institutional Review Board Approval letter



123



OFFICE OF RESEARCH INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB) CHRISTIAN MEDICAL COLLEGE, VELLORE, INDIA

Dr. B.J. Prashantham, M.A., M.A., Dr. Min (Clinical) Director, Christian Counseling Center, Chairperson, Ethács Committee.

Dr. Anna Benjamin Pulimood, M.B.B.S., MD., Ph.D., Chairperson, Research Committee & Principal

Dr. Biju George, M.B.B.S., MD., DM., Deputy Chairperson, Secretary, Ethics Committee, IRB Additional Vice-Principal (Research)

June 24, 2017

PG Student,

Department of Community Medicine, Christian Medical College, Vellore - 632 004.

Sub: Fluid Research Grant: New Proposal: Prevalence of Peripheral Vascular Disease among Diabetics in a rural community in South India and its associated risk factors.

Joseph Abraham, Employment Number: 28095, Dr. Anu Mary Oommen, Employment number – 28649, Associate Professor, Community Health, Dr. Prabhu Premkumar, Surgeon, Department of Vascular surgery

Ref: IRB Min No: 10426 [OBSERVE] dated 05.12.2016

Dear I

The Institutional Review Board (Blue, Research and Ethics Committee) of the Christian Medical College, Vellore, reviewed and discussed your project titled "Prevalence of Peripheral Vascular Disease among Diabetics in a rural community in South India and its associated risk factors" on December 05th 2016.

The Committee reviewed the following documents:

- 1. IRB Application format
- 2. Questionnaire
- 3. Patient Information Sheet
- 4. Informed Consent Form
- 6. No. of documents 1 5

The following Institutional Review Board (Blue, Research & Ethics Committee) members were present at the meeting held on December 05th 2016 in the BRTC Conference Room, Christian Medical College, Bagayam, Vellore 632002.

2 of 4



OFFICE OF RESEARCH INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB) CHRISTIAN MEDICAL COLLEGE, VELLORE, INDIA

Dr. B.J. Prashantham, M.A., M.A., Dr. Min (Clinical) Director, Christian Counseling Center, Chairperson, Ethics Committee.

Dr. Anna Benjamin Pulimood, M.B.B.S., MD., Ph.D., Chairperson, Research Committee & Principal

Dr. Biju George, M.B.B.S., MD., DM., Deputy Chairperson, Secretary, Ethics Committee, IRB Additional Vice-Principal (Research)

Name	Qualification	Designation	Affiliation
Dr. Biju George	MBBS, MD, DM	Professor, Hacmatology, Research), Additional Vice Principal, Deputy Chairperson (Research Committee), Member Secretary (Ethics Committee), IRB, CMC, Vellore	Internal, Clinician
Dr. B. J. Prashantham	MA(Counseling Psychology), MA (Theology), Dr. Min (Clinical Counselling)	Chairperson, Ethics Committee, IRB. Director, Christian Counseling Centre, Vellore	External, Social Scientist
Dr. Ratna Prabha	MBBS, MD (Pharma)	Associate Professor, Clinical Pharmacology, CMC, Vellore	Internal, Pharmacologist
Dr. Rekha Pai	BSc, MSc, PhD	Associate Professor, Pathology, CMC, Vellore	Internal,Basic Medical Scientist
Rev. Joseph Devaraj	BSe, BD	Chaplaincy Department, CMC, Vellore	Internal, Social Scientist
Mr. C. Sampath	BSc, BL	Advocate, Vellore	External, Legal Expert
Dr. Simon Pavamani	MBBS, MD	Professor, Radiotherapy, CMC, Vellore	Internal, Clinician
Dr. Rajesh Kannangai	MD, PhD.	Professor, Clinical Virology, CMC, Vellore	Internal, Clinician
Ms. Grace Rebekha	M.Sc., (Biostatistics)	Lecturer, Biostatistics, CMC, Vellore	Internal, Statistician
Mrs. Pattabiraman	BSc, DSSA	Social Worker, Vellore	External, Lay Person
Dr. Anuradha Rose	MBBS, MD, MHSC (Bioethics)	Associate Professor, Community Health, CMC, Vellore	Internal, Clinician
Dr. Balamugesh	MBBS, MD(Int Med), DM, FCCP (USA)	Professor, Pulmonary Medicine, CMC, Vellore	Internal, Clinician

IRB Min No: 10426 [OBSERVE] dated 05.12.2016

3 of 4



OFFICE OF RESEARCH INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB) CHRISTIAN MEDICAL COLLEGE, VELLORE, INDIA

Dr. B.J. Prashantham, M.A., M.A., Dr. Min (Clinical) Director, Christian Counseling Center, Chairperson, Ethics Committee.

Dr. Anna Benjamin Pulimood, M.B.B.S., MD., Ph.D., Chairperson, Research Committee & Principal

Dr. Bija George, M.B.B.S., MD., DM., Deputy Chairperson, Socretary, Ethics Committee, 1RB Additional Vice-Principal (Research)

Dr. Santhanam Sridhar	MBBS DCH DND	10.0		
Mar II II II II II	mars, ben, bits	Professor, Neonatology, CMC, Vellow	Internal.	
Mrs. Emily Daniel	MSc Nursing	D.C. Venore	Clinician	
		Surgical Nursing,	Internal, Nurse	
Dr. Mathew Joseph	MBBS MCH	Conc, venore		
	and the fi	CMC, Vellore	Internal, Clinician	

We approve the project to be conducted as presented.

Kindly provide the total number of patients enrolled in your study and the total number of withdrawals for the study entitled: "Prevalence of Peripheral Vascular Disease among Diabetics in a rural community in South India and its associated risk factors" on a monthly basis. Please send copies of this to the Research Office (research@emcvellore.ac.in).

Fluid Grant Allocation:

A sum of 1.00.000/- INR (Rupees One Lakh Only) will be granted for 2 years. 50.000/- INR (Rupees Fifty Thousand only) will be granted for 12 months as an 1st Installment. The rest of the 50.000/- INR (Rupees Fifty Thousand only) each will be released at the end of the first year as 2

Yours sincerely,

Dr. Blju George

Secretary (Ethics Committee) Institutional Review Board Dr. BLIU GEORGE MBIIS, MD, DM. BECRETARY (Stier's COMMUTEE) Institutional Review Board, Christian Medical College, Volces - 632 062.

IRB Min No: 10426 [OBSERVE] dated 05.12,2016

4 of 4